EXPRESSION OF ANTI-HBV PRIMARY MICRO-RNA SHUTTLES USING AN INDUCIBLE PROMOTER SYSTEM

Tafadzwa Mlambo

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

Master of Science in Medicine

Johannesburg, 2013

DECLARATION

I, Tafadzwa Mlambo declare that this dissertation is my own work. It is being submitted for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine in the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at this or any other University.

Holm

.....

....27th...day of.......September....., 2013

To my biggest inspirations,

my father, Muzi and my mother and guardian angel, Catherine

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

- Mlambo T, Mowa B, Arbuthnot, PB. Expression of anti-HBV primary micro-RNA shuttles using an inducible promoter system. Molecular Biosciences Research Thrust (MBRT) Research Day; 2011 Dec 7th; Braamfontein, South Africa.
- Mlambo T, Mowa B, Arbuthnot, PB. Expression of anti-HBV primary micro-RNA shuttles using an inducible promoter system. The South African Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (SASBMB) Congress; 2012 Jan 29th-Feb 1st; The Drakensburg, South Africa.
- Mlambo T, Mowa B, Arbuthnot, PB. Expression of anti-HBV primary micro-RNA shuttles using an inducible promoter system. The Faculty of Health Sciences Research Day; 2012 Sep 19th; Parktown, South Africa.
- Mlambo T, Mowa B, Arbuthnot, PB. Inducible expression of primary micro-RNA mimics for the inhibition of HBV replication. The University of the Witwatersrand Cross Faculty Post-Graduate Symposium; 2012 Oct 19th & 22nd; Braamfontein, South Africa.

 Mlambo T, Mowa B, Arbuthnot, PB. An inducible and liver-specific RNAiactivating expression system for the inhibition of HBV replication. Molecular Biosciences Research Thrust (MBRT) Research Day; 2012 Dec 5th; Braamfontein, South Africa.

ABSTRACT

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is an important global health concern and chronic carriers of the virus are at high risk of developing hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and cirrhosis. Current therapies are only partially effective, which emphasises the need for improved treatment strategies. Harnessing the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway as a treatment strategy against HBV has shown great promise. However, there are obstacles that need to be overcome before RNAi-based treatment of HBV infection is realised. These include problems of liver tissue targeting and dose regulation. This study investigated the use of a liver specific and mifepristone-inducible RNA polymerase (Pol) II promoter system for the specific and precise regulation of anti-HBV sequence expression. The inducible system used consists of two expression cassettes; one containing the regulator/transactivator protein and another containing the transgene. Natural primary microRNA (pri-miR) mimics, pri-miR-31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9, were used as anti-HBV sequences. Firefly luciferase gene expression was used to test modulation by the inducible system and to determine optimal induction conditions. The pri-miR-31/5, pri-miR-31/5/8/9 and luciferase encoding fragments were incorporated into the plasmid vector pRS17 that bears the inducible promoter, creating pRS-31/5, pRS-31/5/8/9 and pRS-Luc respectively. Firefly luciferase expression with this system was shown to be inducible and mifepristone dose-dependent. Effective knockdown of HBV gene expression was achieved with both pRS-31/5 and pRS-31/5/8/9 in vitro and in vivo. However, with high vector amounts, similar efficiency in silencing of HBV gene expression was observed in the presence and absence of the inducer mifepristone suggesting leaky expression of the pri-miRs. To confirm this, knockdown studies were carried out with the pri-miR-31/5/8/9-expressing cassette separated from the transactivator cassette. HBV gene expression knockdown was observed with the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 cassette alone confirming leaky expression from the inducible system. Leakiness appears to be as a result of the *E1B* promoter driving the expression of the pri-miRs in the absence of mifepristone. However, reducing the vector amounts decreased basal expression and improved the inducibility of the system in cell culture studies. Successful propagation of an inducible and liver-specific RNAi-activating expression system will address the difficulty of achieving dose control of RNAi effectors and contribute to advancing the use of RNAi for HBV treatment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my supervisors Professor Patrick Arbuthnot and Dr Betty Mowa without whose guidance and support I could not have completed this dissertation.

I wish to thank Dr Abdullah Ely for his patience and assistance with various aspects of my project.

I am grateful to Dr Gloria Gonzalez–Aseguinolaza and Dr Ruben Hernandez-Alcoceba for their help with the pRS17 vector.

I would also like to thank my colleagues at the Antiviral Gene Therapy Research Unit for their assistance and helpful discussions.

I am sincerely thankful for the funding I have received from the University of the Witwatersrand Postgraduate Merit Award and Merit Scholarship, the Poliomyelitis Research Foundation and the National Research Foundation.

Special thanks also go to my family and friends for their constant support and encouragement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declaration	п
Dedication	III
Conference presentations	IV
Abstract	VI
Acknowledgements	VIII
Table of contents	IX
List of figures	XV
List of tables	XVII
List of abbreviations	XVIII
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 HBV INFECTION AND CURRENT TREATMENT STRATEGIES	1
1.2 RNA INTERFERENCE	2
1.2.1 HBV AS AN RNAI TARGET	4
1.2.2 ADVANCES IN THE USE OF RNAI AGAINST HBV	7
1.2.3 Challenges associated with RNAi-based therapeutics against HBV	10
1.2.3.1 Off-target and immunostimulatory effects of RNAi activators	10

Table of Contents	Х
1.2.3.2 Optimising delivery vectors	11
1.2.3.3 Viral escape	13
1.2.3.4 Dose regulation	15
1.3 MAMMALIAN PROMOTERS FOR THE EXPRESSION OF RNAI EFFECTO	ORS 16
1.4 GENE EXPRESSION REGULATION AND TISSUE TARGETING IN GENE T	THERAPY 18
1.4.1 LIVER SPECIFIC GENE EXPRESSION	18
1.4.2 INDUCIBLE GENE EXPRESSION SYSTEMS	20
1.4.2.1 The mifepristone inducible system	23
1.4.2.2 Other inducible systems	31
1.5 PROBLEM STATEMENT	32
1.6 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	33
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	34
2.1 BACTERIAL METHODS	34
2.1.1 CULTURING OF ESCHERICHIA COLI IN LURIA BERTANI MEDIUM	34
2.1.2 PREPARATION OF CHEMICALLY COMPETENT <i>E. COLI</i> CELLS	34
2.1.3 TRANSFORMATION OF CHEMICALLY COMPETENT E. COLI CELLS	35
2.2 PLASMID DNA ISOLATION AND PURIFICATION	35
2.2.1 SMALL SCALE PLASMID PREPARATION ('MINI PREP')	35
2.2.2 LARGE SCALE PLASMID PREPARATION ('BULK PREP')	36
2.2.3 Phenol-chloroform extraction	37
2.2.4 DNA PURIFICATION FROM AN AGAROSE GEL	38
2.3 ENZYMATIC MANIPULATIONS OF DNA	39
2.3.1 RESTRICTION DIGESTION	39
2.3.2 VECTOR DESPHOSPHORYLATION	39

Table of Contents	xi
2.3.3 KLENOW REACTION	40
2.3.4 POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION	40
2.3.5 DNA LIGATION	41
2.4 PLASMIDS	42
2.5 CONSTRUCTION OF PLASMIDS EXPRESSING ANTI-HBV SEQUENCES AND THE FIREF	LY
LUCIFERASE GENE FROM THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM	43
2.5.1 CONSTRUCTION OF PRS-31/5	43
2.5.2 CONSTRUCTION OF PRS-31/5/8/9	43
2.5.3 CONSTRUCTION OF PRS-LUC	45
2.5.4 Separating PRS-31/5/8/9 into the transgene and transactivator expression	N
CASSETTES	45
2.6 TISSUE CULTURE METHODS	47
2.6.1 Cell culture growth conditions	47
2.6.2 PASSAGING OF HUH7 CELLS	47
2.6.3 TRANSFECTION OF EUKARYOTIC CELLS	48
2.6.4 MEASUREMENT OF FIREFLY LUCIFERASE ACTIVITY IN LYSATES	49
2.6.5 Assessment of the <i>in vitro</i> efficacy of pri-miRs incorporated into the	
MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM	49
2.6.5.1 Assessing the efficacy of pri-miRs by ELISA	49
2.6.5.2 Assessing the efficacy of pri-miRs using the Dual Luciferase Assay	50
2.7 MOUSE STUDIES	50
2.7.1 MEASUREMENT OF FIREFLY LUCIFERASE ACTIVITY IN VIVO	50
2.7.2 ASSESSMENT OF THE IN VIVO EFFICACY OF PRI-MIRS INCORPORATED INTO THE	
MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM	51
2.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	52

Table of	Contents
----------	----------

3	RESUI	TS
-		

3.1 EXPRESSION OF THE FIREFLY LUCIFERASE GENE WITH THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCT	BLE
SYSTEM IN VITRO	53
3. 1. 1 INDUCTION OF <i>FIREFLY LUCIFERASE</i> GENE EXPRESSION WITH MIFEPRISTONE	53
3. 1. 2 EXPRESSION OF THE <i>FIREFLY LUCIFERASE</i> GENE WITH THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBL	Æ
SYSTEM IS DOSE-DEPENDENT	57
3.2 KNOCKDOWN OF HBV GENE EXPRESSION WITH PRI-MIR MIMICS EXPRESSED UND	ER
THE CONTROL OF THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM IN VITRO	59
3.2.1 pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed under the control of the mifepristone inducibility of the mifepri	LE
SYSTEM REDUCES HBSAG SECRETION	59
3.2.2 DETERMINING THE OPTIMUM VECTOR AMOUNT OF PRS-31/5/8/9 REQUIRED TO REDU	JCE
BASAL EXPRESSION IN VITRO	62
3.2.3 pri-miR- $31/5$ expressed under the control of the mifepristone inducible	
PROMOTER REDUCES HBSAG SECRETION	67
3.3 ASSESSMENT OF KNOCKDOWN OF HBV GENE EXPRESSION AND MIFEPRISTONE DO	SE
DEPENDENCE FOLLOWING INDUCTION OF PRI-MIR EXPRESSION USING THE DUAL	
LUCIFERASE ASSAY	70
3.4 HBV KNOCKDOWN WITH THE SEPARATED CONSTITUENT CASSETTES OF THE	
MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM	76
3.5 THE EXPRESSION OF THE FIREFLY LUCIFERASE GENE WITH THE MIFEPRISTONE	
INDUCIBLE SYSTEM IN VIVO	79
3. 6 INDUCTION OF <i>Firefly Luciferase</i> gene expression with mifepristone <i>in v</i>	IVO
AT A LOWER VECTOR AMOUNT	83
3.7 Assessment of knockdown of HBV gene expression following induction	N OF
PRI-MIR EXPRESSION WITH MIFEPRISTONE IN VIVO	87

<u>53</u>

Table	of	Contents
-------	----	----------

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 GENE EXPRESSION UNDER THE CONTROL OF THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE S	SYSTEM
IS REGULATABLE AND DOSE-DEPENDENT	91
4.2 EFFECTIVE HBV GENE EXPRESSION KNOCKDOWN CAN BE ACHIEVED WITH P	RI-MI R S
EXPRESSED FROM THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM	97
4.3 THE MECHANISM OF LEAKY EXPRESSION OF ANTI-HBV PRI-MIRS UNDER THI	E
CONTROL OF THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM	101
4.4 POTENTIAL IMPROVEMENTS TO THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM	105
4.5 FUTURE STUDIES	107
5 CONCLUSION	110
6 APPENDIX	112
6.1 BACTERIAL METHODS	112
6.1.1 Luria Bertani medium	112
6.1.2 Ampicillin stock solution (100 mg/ml)	112
6.1.3 LURIA BERTANI AGAR PLATES	112
6.1.4 TRANSFORMATION BUFFER	112
6.1.5 DNA ISOLATION SOLUTIONS	113
6.1.6 0.5M EDTA	114
6.1.750 imes TAE (Tris-acetate-EDTA) buffer	114
6.1.8 X-GAL (5-BROMO-4-CHLORO-3-INDOLYL-B-D-GALACTOPYRANOSIDE)	114
6.1.9 IPTG (ISOPROPYL-BETA-D-THIOGALACTOPYRANOSIDE)	114
6.2 CELL CULTURE STUDIES	115
6.2.1 DMEM CELL CULTURE MEDIUM (DMEM)	115

<u>91</u>

REFERENCES	116
6.3.1 MIFEPRISTONE FOR <i>IN VIVO</i> STUDIES	115
6.3 MOUSE STUDIES	115
6.2.3 MIFEPRISTONE FOR CELL CULTURE STUDIES	115
$6.2.2 \ 0.5 \times \text{Trypsin}$	115
Table of Contents	xiv

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.1: THE RNAI PATHWAY
FIGURE 1.2: THE ORGANISATION OF THE HBV GENOME
Figure 1.3: The structures of the mifepristone transactivator (TA) proteins. $\dots 25$
FIGURE 1.4: MECHANISM AND STRUCTURE OF THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM USED IN
THIS STUDY
FIGURE 2. 1: CONSTRUCTION OF PRS-31/5
FIGURE 3.1: <i>FIREFLY LUCIFERASE</i> GENE EXPRESSION WITH THE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM <i>IN VITRO</i> 56
FIGURE 3.2: FOLD INDUCTION OF FIREFLY LUCIFERASE GENE EXPRESSION IN VITRO AT
DIFFERENT CONCENTRATIONS OF MIFEPRISTONE
FIGURE 3.3: ASSESSMENT OF HBSAG SECRETION FROM HUH7 CELLS TRANSFECTED WITH THE
PRI-MIR-31/5/8/9 CONSTRUCT USING ELISA
FIGURE 3.4A: DETERMINING THE BASAL EXPRESSION FROM PRS-31/5/8/9 IN VITRO65
FIGURE 3.4B: OPTIMISING INDUCTION CONDITIONS FOR THE EXPRESSION OF PRI-MIR-
31/5/8/9 <i>IN VITRO</i>
FIGURE 3.5: ASSESSMENT OF HBSAG SECRETION FROM HUH7 CELLS TRANSFECTED WITH THE
PRI-MIR-31/5 CONSTRUCT USING ELISA
FIGURE 3.6: ASSESSMENT OF HBV GENE EXPRESSION KNOCKDOWN IN CULTURED HUH7
CELLS EXPRESSING PRI-MIR-31/5 USING THE DUAL LUCIFERASE ASSAY
FIGURE 3.7: ASSESSMENT OF HBV GENE EXPRESSION KNOCKDOWN IN CULTURED HUH7
Cells expressing pri-miR-31/5/8/9 using the Dual Luciferase Assay
FIGURE 3.8: Assessment of HBV gene expression knockdown by the pri-miR-31/5/8/9
CASSETTE IN THE ABSENCE OF THE TRANSACTIVATOR CASSETTE

FIGURE 3.9: ASSESSMENT OF FIREFLY LUCIFERASE GENE EXPRESSION WITH THE
MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE PROMOTER IN VIVO USING BIOLUMINESCENCE IMAGING 82
FIGURE 3.10: INDUCTION OF <i>FIREFLY LUCIFERASE</i> GENE EXPRESSION UNDER THE CONTROL OF
THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE PROMOTER <i>IN VIVO</i>
FIGURE 3.11: HBV GENE EXPRESSION KNOCKDOWN WITH PRI-MIR-31/5/8/9 EXPRESSED
FROM THE MIFEPRISTONE INDUCIBLE SYSTEM <i>IN VIVO</i>

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2.1: PLASMIDS USED AND CONSTRUCTED IN THIS STUDY 42	2
TABLE 2.2: OLIGONUCLEOTIDES USED FOR THE AMPLIFICATION OF THE PRI-MIR-31/5 AND	
PRI-MIR-31/5/8/9 SEQUENCES AND THE <i>FIREFLY LUCIFERASE</i> GENE	5

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aa	-	amino acid
AAT	-	α_1 -antitrypsin
AAV	-	adeno-associated virus
ATP	-	adenosine triphoshate
bp	-	base pair
BGHpA	-	bovine growth hormone polyadenylation signal
CAT	-	chloramphenicol acetyltransferase
cccDNA	-	covalently closed circular DNA
CMV	-	cytomegalovirus
COS-1	-	African green monkey kidney fibroblast-like cell line
Cox-2	-	cyclooxygenase-2
DBD	-	DNA binding domain
DGCR8	-	di George Critical Region 8
DMEM	-	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	-	deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	-	deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DsRed2	-	Discosoma sp. Red fluorescent protein variant 2
dsRNA	-	double-stranded RNA

E.coli	-	Escherichia coli
EcR	-	ecdysone receptor
EDTA	-	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFP	-	enhanced green fluorescent protein
ELISA	-	enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
Еро	-	erythropoietin
FCS	-	foetal calf serum
FRAP	-	FKBP12-rapamycin-associated protein
g	-	gravitational acceleration
HBeAg	-	hepatitis B virus e antigen
HBsAg	-	hepatitis B virus surface antigen
HBV	-	hepatitis B virus
HBx	-	hepatitis B virus X protein
НСС	-	hepatocellular carcinoma
HCV	-	hepatitis C virus
HEK293	-	human embryonic kidney cell line
HepaRG	-	human hepatoma cell line
HepG 2.2.15	-	human hepatoma cell line
HFN1	-	hepatocyte nuclear factor 1
hGH	-	human growth hormone
HIV	-	human immmunodeficiency virus

xix

HSV	-	herpes simplex virus
Huh7	-	human hepatoma cell line
hVEGF	-	human vascular endothelial growth factor
IL-12	-	interleukin-12
i.p	-	intraperitoneal
IPTG	-	isopropyl-beta-D-thiogalactopyranoside
IRF	-	interferon regulatory factor
KRAB	-	Krüppel-associated box
LA	-	Luria Bertani agar
LB	-	Luria Bertani medium
lhRNA	-	long hairpin RNA
LTR	-	long terminal repeat
mfp	-	mifepristone
MHI	-	murine hydrodynamic injection
miR	-	microRNA
mRNA	-	messenger RNA
NF-ĸB	-	nuclear factor-kappaB
nt	-	nucleotide
NVV	-	non-viral vector
OD	-	optical density
ORF	-	open reading frame

PCR	-	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PEG	-	polyethylene glycol
PKR	-	protein kinase receptor
Pol	-	RNA polymerase
pre-miR	-	precursor miR
pre-mRNA	-	precursor mRNA
pre-rRNA	-	precursor rRNA
pri-miR	-	primary miR
PRLBD	-	progesterone ligand binding domain
qRT-PCR	-	quantitative reverse transcription PCR
rcDNA	-	relaxed circular DNA
RISC	-	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNA	-	ribonucleic acid
RNAi	-	RNA interference
RNase	-	ribonuclease
rpm	-	revolutions per minute
rRNA	-	ribosomal RNA
RXR	-	retinoid X receptor
SEAP	-	secreted human placental alkaline phosphatase
shRNA	-	short hairpin RNA
siRNA	-	short interfering RNA

snRNA	-	small nuclear RNA
SNALP	-	stable nucleic acid lipid particle
snoRNA	-	small nucleolar RNA
SNP	-	single nucleotide polymorphism
SV40pA	-	simian virus 40 polyadenylation signal
TAE buffer	-	tris-acetate-EDTA buffer
tet	-	tetracycline
tetR	-	tetracycline repressor
tetO	-	tetracycline operator
TERT	-	telomerase reverse transcriptase
tk	-	thymine kinase
TLR	-	toll-like receptor
TRBP	-	TAR-RNA-binding protein
TTR	-	transthyretin
tRNA	-	transfer RNA
UAS	-	upstream activation sequence
USP	-	ultraspiracle
UTR	-	untranslated region
UV	-	ultraviolet
VP16	-	virion protein 16
VPEs	-	viral particle equivalents

List of abbreviat	ions	
WHV	-	woodchuck hepatitis virus
X-gal	-	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-galactopyranoside
ZFHD1	-	zinc finger homeodomain 1

CHAPTER 1

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 HBV infection and current treatment strategies

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) is a major global health burden and it is estimated that more than 2 billion people worldwide have been infected with HBV. Of these, between 350 and 400 million are chronically infected with the virus (1). Chronic carriers of HBV are at high risk of developing complications such as hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and cirrhosis (1-3). HCC is responsible for 85-90% of primary liver cancers (4) which represent the fifth most common cancer worldwide and the second most common cause of cancer-related mortality in men and the seventh most commonly diagnosed cancer and the sixth most common cause of cancer death in women (5). The virus is transmitted percutaneously, sexually and perinatally and is highly endemic in many regions of Africa (6, 7). An effective vaccine for HBV has been available since 1981, however, the vaccine must preferably be administered soon after birth before exposure to infection can occur (1, 8). As of 2008, there are seven licensed treatments for HBV: the nucleoside/nucleotide analogues adefovir, lamivudine, telbivudine, tenofovir and entecavir as well as the injected interferons, interferon α and pegylated interferon α (9, 10). One of the major limitations associated with the use of nucleoside/nucleotide analogues (particularly lamivudine) for the treatment of HBV is the emergence of viral resistance and this has led to a combinatorial approach to treatment (11, 12). The use of interferons has been restricted as a result of the high cost as well as the side effects and risk of hepatic injury associated with treatment (6, 13). These limitations necessitate novel treatment strategies for HBV which will allow for the sustained management of the virus with limited side effects.

Chapter 1

1.2 RNA interference

The need for alternative HBV infection treatment strategies directed interest to the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway and the possibility of harnessing the pathway to advance effective antiviral therapeutics against HBV. RNAi was demonstrated in Caenorhabditis elegans by Fire, Mello and colleagues in 1998 (14). The RNAi pathway has since been identified in most eukaryotic cells and is characterised by the silencing of homologous genes by short, duplex RNA sequences usually between 21 and 23 nt in length (15, 16). The first step to produce these regulatory RNAi effectors in humans occurs in the nucleus and involves the transcription of microRNA (miR)-encoding genes by RNA polymerase (Pol) II to produce primary microRNA (pri-miR) sequences (Figure 1.1) (17). These sequences are then processed by the microprocessor complex comprising Drosha and DGCR8 proteins (di George Critical Region 8) to form precursor miR (pre-miR) hairpins, typically between 60-80 nt in length (18, 19). The nuclear karyopherin exportin 5 facilitates the export of these sequences from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. Here, they are further processed by Dicer and TRBP (TAR-RNA-binding protein) to form miR duplexes of between 21-23 nt in length containing 2-nt 3' hydroxyl overhangs (20-25). These duplexes are then presented to the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) which retains one strand, the "guide strand", while the other strand, the "passenger strand", is released from the complex (26-30). The guide strand, which is associated with Argonaute 2 (a component of RISC), subsequently guides the complex to a specific mRNA typically by binding to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the target mRNA. If the guide shares complete complementarity with the target site Argonaute 2 cleaves the target mRNA ultimately leading to degradation of the mRNA. (31-33). If the guide is partially complementary to its target translation will be suppressed (17). Mature miRs are rarely



Figure 1.1: The RNAi pathway.

Transcription of miR-encoding genes by Pol II occurs in the nucleus to produce pri-miR sequences. These sequences are processed by Drosha and DGCR8 proteins to form pre-miR hairpins. The pre-miRs are exported to the cytoplasm by exportin 5 where they are processed by Dicer and TRBP to form miR duplexes of between 21-23 nt in length. These duplexes are incorporated into RISC which subsequently targets homologous mRNA. Adapted from Arbuthnot and Thompson (17).

Chapter 1

entirely complementary to their targets and hybridisation between the target and nucleotides 2-7 in the 5' end of the guide strand, termed the "seed region", is sufficient to induce translational suppression (17, 34).

1.2.1 HBV as an RNAi target

HBV is a noncytopathic virus that belongs to the *Hepadnaviridae* family of hepatotropic DNA viruses. Its genome exists as partially double-stranded, relaxed circular DNA (rcDNA) of 3.2 kb. The HBV genome replicates via an RNA intermediate and rcDNA is converted to covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA) within infected hepatocytes (13, 17, 35-37). The viral genome is compact and encodes four overlapping open reading frames (ORFs): *precore/core, polymerase, surface* and *X* (Figure 1.2). The compact genome and limited sequence plasticity makes HBV a good candidate for treatment involving nucleic acid hybridisation. In addition, the overlapping reading frames limit the possibility of viral escape (17, 38). Harnessing the RNAi pathway as a treatment strategy against HBV involves the use of exogenous RNAi effectors. These have proven to be valuable in antiviral therapeutics as they can be targeted to specific sites in the viral different stages of the pathway. However, a major limitation associated with RNAi-based treatment of HBV is the inability to eliminate the stable pool of cccDNA which is maintained within hepatocytes during infection with the virus (39).

The availability of valuable HBV infection models has facilitated the development of RNAi against HBV. Cell culture models of HBV infection typically make use of



Figure 1.2: The organisation of the HBV genome.

The genome exists as partially double-stranded, relaxed circular DNA of 3.2 kb and encodes four overlapping ORFs: *precore/core*, *polymerase*, *surface* and *X*. Arrows immediately surrounding the genome indicate the four ORFs. The four outer arrows represent viral transcripts. Shaded rectangles and circles indicate regulatory elements. Coordinates are shown relative to the *Eco*RI restriction site. Adapted from Passman, Weinberg, Kew and Arbuthnot (40).

transiently transfected cells or cell lines which constitutively produce HBV particles (e.g. HepG 2.2.15 cells) (38). The development of the HepaRG cell line, which is the only cell line known to be susceptible to HBV infection, provided a more accurate model of HBV replication in cell culture. HepaRG cells also exhibit hepatocyte-like morphology, show specific hepatic functions and may contribute to elucidating the entry mechanism of HBV (41). Methods used to assess the inhibition of HBV replication *in vitro* include measuring hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) secretion and reduction of viral RNAs and viral particle equivalents (VPEs) (38, 42, 43). Reporter assays (e.g. luciferase) have also been widely used to assess HBV gene expression knockdown *in vitro*. psiCHECK-*HBx* (44), which contains the *HBx* sequence downstream of the Renilla *luciferase* ORF, is an example of a plasmid that is used as a reporter target vector for the luciferase assay.

The murine hydrodynamic injection (MHI) provided the first *in vivo* model of HBV replication. This technique involves the high pressure injection of a HBV replication-competent plasmid through the tail vein of mice. Although the procedure itself is hepatotoxic, it results in the efficient uptake of the plasmid by the hepatocytes (45). Transgenic mice have also been used to simulate HBV viral replication. These animals have a replication-competent HBV sequence integrated into their genomes, but infection of hepatocytes does not occur as mice lack the required HBV entry receptor (46, 47). Nonetheless, this model mimics chronic infection in humans as HBV replication continues for the duration of the animal's life (48). The model commonly used for HBV infection involves chimaeric immunodeficient mice which have been engrafted with human hepatocytes. Induction of liver damage and subsequent loss of murine hepatocytes allows for the repopulation of the liver with human hepatocytes (49-52). This model is particularly

valuable because cccDNA is formed during viral replication in the human hepatocytes in contrast to the murine hydrodynamic injection and transgenic mouse models (53). Larger animal models for HBV replication have been identified including woodchucks (54) and chimpanzees (55); however, their use is restricted by the requirement for specialised housing, cost and ethical considerations (47, 56). Inhibition of HBV *in vivo* can be assessed by measuring markers of replication such as HBsAg and hepatitis B virus e antigen (HBeAg) and circulating viral particles in the serum (38, 43). Firefly luciferase expression can also be measured using bioluminescence imaging of live animals as a means of determining HBV inhibition. Typically, the RNAi target sequence is placed downstream of the *Firefly luciferase* gene such that silencing of the target results in diminished bioluminescence (57).

1.2.2 Advances in the use of RNAi against HBV

The exploitation of the RNAi pathway has mainly been achieved using synthetic short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) which are mimics of the dsRNA formed after processing by Dicer and TRBP, precursor microRNA mimics (pre-miRs) or short hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) that enter the pathway after Drosha processing and primary microRNA mimics (pri-miRs) (Figure 1.1) (58). Mimics of pre- and pri-miRs are commonly expressed from Pol III (e.g. U6 and H1) and Pol II promoters respectively (17, 59). In the case of HBV, there has been considerable progress using all three strategies over the past decade.

Initial studies by several groups demonstrated the efficacy of siRNAs against HBV expression and replication *in vitro*. Shlomai and Shaul showed that siRNAs targeted to the

HBx and core ORFs efficiently reduced the levels of the corresponding viral transcripts and proteins (60). The antiviral effect was sequence-specific and did not require active viral replication. Several regions of the HBV genome have since been targeted using RNAi. The first successful targeting of siRNAs to the liver was achieved by McCaffrey and colleagues (61). The hydrodynamic injection method was used to deliver a target construct containing the NS5B region of hepatitis C virus fused to luciferase RNA and an siRNA against NS5B. RNAi-mediated silencing was observed and demonstrated the efficacy of siRNAs in mice. Shortly after, a mouse model for HBV infection was developed using the hydrodynamic injection method which enabled the application of RNAi against actively replicating virus in vivo (62-64). In addition, McCaffrey and colleagues (64) as well as Giladi and colleagues (63) demonstrated the in vivo efficacy of U6 promoter cassettes encoding anti-HBV shRNAs and anti-HBV siRNAs respectively. While synthetic siRNAs have rapid and dose controlled effects (63), they are rapidly cleared from the liver and have a short half-life in serum. Therefore, repeated delivery would be necessary to achieve more sustained expression (58). In contrast, shRNAs result in more sustained expression (65).

Artificial pri-miRs have been developed in which the guide and complementary sequences of natural miRs are replaced with those of shRNAs (66). This approach takes advantage of the natural transcription of cellular miRs from Pol II promoters (59). In addition, expression from Pol II promoters allows for tissue-specific and regulated expression; the latter reducing the risk associated with oversaturation of the endogenous RNAi machinery (67). Zeng *et al.* first demonstrated that by substituting the stem sequence of miR-30 with unrelated base-paired sequences, novel miRs could be generated (68). This revealed the

potential of artificial miRs as therapeutic RNAi sequences. The pri-miR-30 backbone has since been widely utilised and characterised (66, 69, 70). Ely and colleagues exploited the liver-specificity and natural processing of miR-122, the most abundant miR in the human liver (71), by incorporating anti-HBV sequences into the pri-miR-122 backbone (57). Many miRs are encoded in genomic clusters which are transcribed as polycistronic miRs; this allows for the production of multiple miRs from a single transcription unit (72-74). This is particularly useful in limiting viral escape; and in the case of HBV provides the potential for targeting a range of HBV genotypes (70). The miR-106b and miR-17-92 polycistronic clusters have been used to generate multiplexed RNAi activators against HIV (75, 76). Chung and colleagues designed miR-155-based vectors which they demonstrated could be used to express up to 8 tandem copies of a synthetic miR from a single polycistronic unit to increase the inhibition of a single target mRNA (77). Progress has also been made in the use of expressed polycistronic cassettes against HBV. Ely et al. generated trimeric anti-HBV Pol II expression cassettes encoding mimics of miR-31 (78), thus harnessing the efficient processing of miR-31 by Drosha (79). The polycistronic pri-miR-31/5/8/9 (78) and monocistronic pri-miR-31/5 (57) anti-HBV expression cassettes designed by Ely and colleagues were used in this study. Snyder and colleagues went on to design a polycistronic Pol II-driven expression cassette against HBV which incorporated a liver-specific promoter thus affording the opportunity for tissue-specific expression (70). Artificial miRs have the added advantage of improved safety compared to shRNAs in vitro and in vivo. Boudreau et al. demonstrated that artificial miRs do not interfere with cellular processes such as miR biogenesis and are better tolerated than shRNAs (80). In addition, it has been proposed that the superior silencing observed with miRs can be attributed to their processing by Drosha/DGCR8 which simulates natural miR processing. The Drosha step is bypassed by shRNAs and may result in less efficient entry into the RNAi pathway (76).

The discovery of RNAi evoked great interest and attracted focus to its potential in different applications. Although significant progress has been made in the development of antiviral strategies using RNAi, there are obstacles that must be overcome before it can become a clinically feasible treatment strategy. Ideal RNAi effectors against HBV must be potent, stable, effectively delivered at the specified doses and have limited toxicity as well as limited off-target effects (56). The main challenges, some of which are addressed in this study, are discussed below.

1.2.3.1 Off-target and immunostimulatory effects of RNAi activators

The presence of dsRNA in a cell can be indicative of an invading virus and will therefore trigger an immune response characterised by the release of inflammatory cytokines as well as the activation of the interferon response (81, 82). These off-target effects can be induced by dsRNA through the activation of dsRNA-dependent protein kinase receptor (PKR) and the interaction of dsRNA with toll-like receptors (TLRs) (81). The resulting cascade leads to the activation of transcription factors such as NF-kB, IRF3 and IRF7 and the increased expression of genes including inflammatory cytokines and interferons (17, 83, 84). This leads to the inhibition of protein synthesis and programmed cell death (82). It has also been shown that the type of RNAi effector and its specific properties may have an effect on immunostimulation (85). For example, synthetic siRNAs that are longer than 30 bp (86) and lack 2-nt 3'overhangs (87), among other characteristics, have been found to stimulate the immune response. In addition, several 'danger' motifs such as GU rich sequences have been found to be immunostimulatory (88). Hybridisation of RNAi effectors to unintended mRNA may also result in off-target effects. This non-specific silencing occurs as a result

of partial identity to the unintended target. It has been shown that sequences bearing as few as 11 contiguous complementary sequences can be directly silenced (89).

Off target effects have been attenuated in RNAi activators by various chemical modifications to siRNAs. The addition of a 5'-O-methyl group on the terminal ribose of the sense strand ensures that the antisense strand is preferentially incorporated into RISC thus limiting non-specific gene silencing (90). A 2'-O-methyl modification at position 2 of the guide strand has been shown to reduce the silencing of off-target sequences with partial complementarity to the seed region of the siRNA (91). Algorithms and guidelines have been developed to aid in the efficient design of RNAi effectors by predicting silencing efficiency thus preventing unintended silencing of mRNAs (92-94). In addition, microarray analysis of cellular transcripts has been proposed as a means of predicting off-target effects and ensuring the safety of RNA-based therapeutics (17). Importantly, targeted gene expression through the use of tissue-specific promoters and transcriptional control elements ensures that silencing is confined to specific tissues; thus limiting off-target effects brought about by non-specific binding or immune stimulation (95-97).

1.2.3.2 Optimising delivery vectors

The effective delivery of RNAi effectors to human patients in a clinical setting remains a major obstacle to advancement of RNAi-based therapy against HBV. Studies are ongoing in the development of safe and efficient delivery mechanisms that will facilitate targeted delivery to organs of choice. Both viral and non viral vectors have been investigated for their potential as RNAi delivery vehicles. The hydrodynamic injection method, while useful in animal models of HBV, is not a feasible method of delivery in the clinic. Proven

methods for siRNA delivery involve injection directly into the tissue thus reducing offtarget effects, degradation and clearance of the siRNAs. However, many organs are not easily accessible for local delivery and such a method would be considerably invasive (98).

Morissey and colleagues demonstrated the benefit of chemical modifications for increasing the stability of siRNAs delivered intravenously in a mouse model (99). Various strategies have since been used to generate non-viral vectors (NVVs) to deliver siRNAs to the liver such as cationic lipid-containing nucleic acid complexes (lipoplexes) (100) and SNALPs (stable nucleic acid lipid particles) (101). The conjugation of siRNAs to lipids or steroids increases their hydrophobicity allowing transport across the cell membrane and protecting the siRNAs from nuclease activity (98). Nanoparticles containing siRNAs have also been generated using the 'stealth' polymer polyethylene glycol (PEG) to improve stability and passive hepatotropism (102). Components that target the liver and improve specificity such as apolipoprotein A-1 have also been incorporated into the design of siRNA NVVs (103). NVVs have the benefits of compatibility with siRNAs and the ability to be chemically modified and produced on a large scale thus making them useful tools for gene therapy applications (47).

Significant progress has also been made in developing a viral delivery strategy for anti-HBV RNAi effectors. Carmona *et al.* (104) and Uprichard *et al.* (105) demonstrated that hepatotropic recombinant adenoviral vectors expressing shRNAs from Pol III promoters suppressed pre-existing HBV gene expression and replication in transgenic mice. Adenoassociated viruses (AAVs) have also been shown to be promising delivery vectors for anti-HBV therapeutics (67). Both adenoviruses and AAVs are capable of efficiently transducing hepatocytes in vivo (46) and infecting both dividing and non-dividing cells (106). However, the use of adenoviruses has been limited by their toxicity as a result of triggering the innate and adaptive response therefore limiting repeated administration (107, 108). The newer generation helper-dependent or 'gutless' adenoviruses which lack all viral coding sequences have reduced immunostimulatory effects and have been shown to deliver shRNAs (109) and pri-miRs (110) efficiently to the liver (109). While more difficult to propagate, these vectors are capable of long-term gene transfer (>2 years) in vivo (111). A study by Crowther *et al.* showed that the immunogenic effects of adenoviruses can be attenuated by PEG modification of the virus (42). In contrast, AAVs are nonpathogenic and do not stimulate the immune response. Many AAV serotypes have been described with AAV2 being the most well characterised and AAV8 being of particular interest for HBV therapy because of its natural hepatotropism (46). Chen et al. demonstrated that AAV2 could be combined with the capsid of AAV8 to deliver anti-HBV shRNAs efficiently to the liver without significant side effects (112). Lentiviral vectors based on the lentivirus genus of retroviruses (which includes HIV) have also been developed. These vectors have the benefit of infecting non-dividing and terminally undifferentiated cells (113). In addition, stable proviral DNA integration can enable long-term expression of RNAi effectors and thus sustained silencing of HBV (47, 114).

1.2.3.3 Viral escape

An important consideration in the development of antiviral therapeutics is the emergence of viral escape mutants which has led to a combinatorial approach to treatment. The same consideration must be applied to RNAi-based therapeutics. It has been demonstrated that single nucleotide substitutions within target mRNA, especially within the seed region, are
sufficient to provide protection against silencing by RNAi (115). RNAi resistance in HIV has been widely studied and shown to occur at various levels including: base substitutions or deletions within the target, substitution mutations upstream of the target resulting in altered viral mRNA secondary structures thus preventing access of RISC to its cognate target and mutations in the non-targeted long terminal repeat (LTR) promoter sequences which lead to upregulation of viral gene transcription (116)]. However, RNAi selection mutants have also been reported *in vitro* for poliovirus (115), HCV (117) and HBV (118). Combinatorial RNAi has proven to be a promising strategy against the selection of escape mutants. Multi-target gene silencing of conserved regions in viral genomes has been of particular interest (116).

Pol III-driven shRNA expression cassettes can be placed adjacent to each other within a single vector resulting in the expression of multiple shRNAs. However, viral escape can still occur, albeit at a delayed rate compared to the single shRNAs (116). Another strategy involves the use of long hairpin RNAs (lhRNAs) which can then be processed by Dicer into multiple siRNAs. Weinberg and colleagues designed lhRNAs targeting the *HBx* ORF of HBV as a means of limiting viral escape. Although having the advantage of targeting several sites of the genome simultaneously, processing across the lhRNA duplex was not equally efficient (44). In addition, there are concerns associated with the possible immunostimulatory effects of dsRNAs that are longer than 30 bp (86). However, in agreement with other studies (85), Weinberg and colleagues also demonstrated that expressed dsRNAs, including lhRNAs, do not induce the interferon response (44). Polycistronic miR mimics have also been widely used for multiple gene silencing and provide a means for limiting viral escape. Ely and colleagues were able to demonstrate effective HBV knockdown using expressed polycistronic miR cassettes targeting three

different viral genome sites. In addition, there was no evidence of unintended off-target effects (78). There has also been evidence of the potential of combining RNAi effectors with established licensed drugs for HBV. One study demonstrated the antiviral synergy between shRNAs and an existing HBV therapeutic-lamivudine; this may further reduce viral escape (119).

1.2.3.4 Dose regulation

Grimm *et al.* showed that U6-promoter-driven shRNAs expressed from recombinant AAVs resulted in dose-dependent liver injury and fatality in mice (67). Toxicity was demonstrated to be as a result of oversaturation of the miR processing machinery, specifically the karyopherin exportin 5, highlighting the importance of achieving dose control of expressed RNAi effectors. Pol III promoter-driven shRNAs have been found to result in significant HBV knockdown both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (104, 105); however, they are constitutively active and as such may result in overexpression of shRNAs and toxicity. Pol II promoters are tissue-specific and can be more easily regulated and have therefore proven to be valuable tools in the development of safe and efficient RNAi-based therapeutics (120). The mechanisms used to achieve dose regulation are discussed in detail in the following sections.

1.3 Mammalian promoters for the expression of RNAi effectors

Nuclear DNA transcription in eukaryotes is carried out by three RNA polymerases: Pol I, Pol II and Pol III. Each polymerase is highly specialised and catalyses the transcription of a specific group of genes. Pol I catalyses the transcription of precursor ribosomal RNA (prerRNA), which is processed into 28S, 5.8S and 18S rRNAs. Pol II is involved in the transcription of a wide range of genes including all protein-coding mRNAs, small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs), small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs) and miRs. Pol III, similarly to Pol I, catalyses the transcription of a small subset of genes, the most abundant being the tRNAs (transfer RNAs) and the 5S rRNA (121-124). For transcription to take place, genes must contain specific promoters which are typically made up of two elements, the basal promoter elements and the modulator promoter elements. The basal elements drive low levels of transcription while the modulator elements enhance or reduce the basal levels of transcription. The polymerases cannot identify their target promoters directly, therefore basal promoter elements are first recognised by specific transcription elements which can then recruit the correct polymerase (125).

Pol II and Pol III promoters have been widely used for the expression of RNAi effectors. Based on the promoter structures and the requirements for transcription, genes transcribed by Pol III can be categorised in three ways: type 1 include the 5S rRNA genes, type 2 include the tRNA genes and type 3 include the snRNA U6 and H1 genes (125, 126). The two most commonly used promoters to drive the expression of shRNAs are the U6 and H1 promoters. The U6 snRNA is essential for pre-mRNA splicing (124) while H1 is the RNA component of the nuclear RNase P which cleaves tRNA precursors to produce the mature 5'-termini (127). The U6 and H1 promoters are favoured because they have a well-defined transcription start and stop site, simple structure and they naturally drive the expression of small RNAs (114, 127, 128). However, U6-driven expression of shRNAs has been shown to saturate the endogenous RNAi pathway and result in toxicity (67). In addition, it has been demonstrated that shRNA expression from the U6 promoter is more likely to induce the interferon response than expression from the H1 promoter (129). The weaker H1 and tRNA promoters may therefore be preferred for some applications (47). Modified tRNA promoters have been demonstrated to drive shRNA expression effectively and effect comparable inhibition of HIV replication to levels observed with U6 and H1 promoters (130, 131). However, tRNA promoters give rise to longer dsRNAs than H1 and U6 promoters thus increasing the risk associated with inducing the interferon response (114). The discovery that Pol III promoters can also transcribe miR genes (132) and that tissue specific expression can be achieved with tRNA promoters (133) may provide exciting new possibilities in the use of Pol III promoters.

With the exception of U6 snRNA, the major vertebrate U snRNAs (U1-U5) are transcribed by Pol II (134). Pol II promoters can be divided into two large classes: the mRNA and snRNA promoters; in addition Pol II has been found to naturally transcribe miR genes (59, 125). Tissue specific and inducible Pol II promoters can be used to address the dose regulation and tissue targeting problems associated with RNAi therapy. The cytomegalovirus (CMV) Pol II promoter has been widely used and demonstrated to drive high levels of transgene expression in the liver following the hydrodynamic injection (135). However, the use of Pol II promoters to express hairpin sequences has been limited by the variable silencing of conventional shRNAs; as observed with CMV-driven shRNAs

which were several orders of magnitude less efficient in knocking down the target compared to U6-driven constructs (92). These observations necessitate optimised design to achieve potent silencing. Nonetheless, it is evident that promoter choice is an important consideration for RNAi-based therapeutics.

1.4 Gene expression regulation and tissue targeting in gene therapy

Dose regulation and tissue targeting remain important obstacles preventing the advancement of gene therapy into the clinic. As a result, several studies have been conducted and considerable progress has been made in the development of expression systems that allow for the temporal and spatial control of therapeutic sequence expression. The ability to control gene expression will be particularly useful where potentially toxic transgenes or therapies are delivered. An important example relevant to the treatment of HBV is interferon therapy which is often not well-tolerated by patients and is associated with many side effects (6, 13). Therefore a system which will allow for the delivery of specified doses of interferon to the liver will be a major step towards developing safe and effective treatment against HBV (136).

1.4.1 Liver specific gene expression

The tissue-specific transcription of genes is an important feature of eukaryotic cells; however, for a long time the molecular mechanisms behind tissue-specific transcriptional control were unknown. Tissue specific transcription factors, the majority of which bind to promoter or enhancer regions, have since been identified as the major contributors to tissue-restricted transcription (137-139). The ability to achieve tissue specific gene

expression has been harnessed in the development of tissue specific gene delivery vectors targeting various tissues, organs and cells including the eye, liver, heart, pancreas, muscle, endothelium, neurons, central nervous system, T cells, dendritic cells, epithelial cells and haematopoietic system [reviewed in (140)]. Promoters classified as tumour-specific such as the promoters of the cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2) and telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) genes have also attracted interest as they enhance the expression of certain genes in numerous tumour types but not in normal tissues [reviewed in (141)].

The tissue-specific transcription of genes in the liver has been widely studied and has resulted in the identification of DNA binding transcription factors which interact with hepatocyte-specific promoters and enhancers. These transcription factors are not exclusively found in the liver but in other cell types as well. However, as illustrated with the transcription factor hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 (HNF1), binding sites for liver-specific transcription factors are more prevalent in liver-specific genes than in genes expressed in other tissues (138). Interestingly, HNF1 was found to bind to the promoter of the surface antigen of HBV possibly contributing to its hepatotropism (142). In addition, the natural tropism of HBV has been exploited to generate gene transfer vectors based on the HBV surface antigen L particle for liver-specific delivery (143). HNF1 has also been demonstrated to interact with the essential promoter regions of many liver-specific genes including albumin, α -fetoprotein and transthyretin (142).

Several promoters and enhancers of hepatic genes have since been used to achieve targeting to the liver, including those from albumin, α_1 -antitrypsin (AAT), transthyretin and haemopexin genes. Albumin is an abundant protein which is mainly expressed in

hepatocytes (144, 145). AAT is a proteinase inhibitor that is also mainly synthesised in the liver (137, 145). Haemopexin is a glycoprotein whose synthesis is increased in response to acute infections in the liver (146) while the synthesis of transthyretin (prealbumin) is decreased in response to acute inflammation (147). A study comparing different liver specific promoters demonstrated that high-levels of gene expression were achieved and specificity was increased when the promoters were combined with albumin and hepatitis B-derived enhancers. (145). It has also been demonstrated that liver-specific promoters can be incorporated into viral vectors as a potential approach for targeting gene therapy agents to hepatic cells (148). This provides evidence of the great potential of liver-specific promoters in the development of anti-HBV therapeutics.

1.4.2 Inducible gene expression systems

The ability to control gene expression *in vitro* and *in vivo* is a valuable tool for many applications particularly in the development of clinical gene therapeutics. Inducible systems initially comprised promoters that were responsive to stimuli such as heavy metals, heat-shock and hormones. However, these are unsuitable for clinical applications owing to the pleiotropic effects of the inducing agents caused by interference with normal cellular physiology (149, 150). The ideal regulatory system should be active in the presence of an exogenous, orally bioavailable and physiologically inert small molecule and promote high levels of expression. However, induction should occur over a wide dose range of the inducer to allow for dose-responsive control of gene expression. In addition, it should show low basal activity in the absence of the inducer and be able to switch between the 'on' and 'off' state. Importantly, the constituent components should not interfere with endogenous cellular processes and should ideally be of human origin to reduce

immunogenic effects. Tissue-specific expression is also an important requirement to minimise off-target effects. Compatibility with conventional viral and non-viral vectors would also be an added advantage (151-154). Several strategies have been developed to enable gene expression under the control of a small exogenous molecule. The majority are based on the tetracycline repressor or the ecdysone, rapamycin and progesterone receptors.

The tetracycline (tet) inducible system developed by Gossen and Bujard is the most well characterised and most widely used and has been used for various applications in vitro and in vivo. It is based on the regulatory elements of the transposon Tn10 (Tn10)-specified tetracycline-resistance operon in *E.coli*. The main component is the tetracycline repressor (tetR) which negatively regulates the transcription of tet resistance-mediating genes (155). The first derivative of the tet inducible system, tet-OFF, was developed by combining *tet*R with the C-terminal domain of virion protein 16 (VP16) from the herpes simplex virus (HSV) which is essential for the transcription of immediate early viral genes. The resultant hybrid transactivator (tTA) stimulates minimal promoters fused to tetracycline operator (tetO) sequences (155). In the presence of tetracycline, the drug forms a complex with tTA therefore the binding of tTA to tetO sequences is inhibited and transcription does not occur (155). However, the continuous presence of tetracycline to switch off gene expression is not ideal. In addition, tetracycline deposits in the bone and is consequently cleared slowly in vivo preventing rapid induction of gene expression (156, 157). Therefore the Tet-OFF has been replaced in many applications by the Tet-ON system which shows the opposite mechanism. The limitations associated with both the tet-ON and tet-OFF systems include the toxicity of the tetracyclines themselves (158), toxicity of the tTA protein (157) and the variable basal expression observed in different cell types and tissues (150, 157, 159).

The ecdysone system harnesses insect hormone responsiveness and transfers it to mammalian cells giving rise to a means of achieving highly effective gene regulation (160). Steroid receptors belong to a family of transcription factors and their activity is tightly regulated by the binding of their cognate steroid ligand (161). During metamorphosis in Drosophila melanogaster, morphological changes are triggered by the steroid molting hormone 20-OH ecdysone through the ecdysone receptor. This response is mediated by the functional ecdysone receptor, a heterodimer of the ecdysone receptor (EcR) and the product of the ultraspiracle (USP) gene (162). Hormone responsiveness similar to the natural mechanism in insects can be achieved in cultured mammalian cells by co-transfection with EcR, USP, an ecdysone responsive reporter and treatment with ecdysone or the synthetic analogue muristerone A (160). No and colleagues increased the sensitivity of the system by fusing a truncated ecdysone receptor to the activation domain of VP16 and replacing USP with its mammalian homologue, the retinoid X receptor (RXR). The benefits of ecdysteroids include their lipophilicity allowing penetration into all tissues and their short half-lives allowing for precise and potent inductions (160). However, limitations include possible immunogenic effects resulting from the expression of insect-derived proteins and slower clearance and metabolism of the lipid soluble steroid hormones (159).

The rapamycin system was developed by taking advantage of the ability of small immunosuppressive molecules to bind to members of the immunophilin protein family (150). Rapamycin is a natural heterodimeriser which complexes with the immunophilin FKBP12 and FKBP12-rapamycin-associated protein (FRAP) (157). To create the inducible system, a human chimaeric DNA binding domain ZFHD1 was joined to FKBP and the p65

activator domain derived from NF- κ B was fused to FRAP. The addition of rapamycin results in dimerisation of the two fusion proteins and allows transcription of genes downstream of ZFHD1 binding sites (152, 163). Rapamycin is an ideal inducer as it is capable of entering most tissues and has a short half live *in vivo*. However, a major limitation is the growth inhibitory and immunosuppressive effects of rapamycin (157). This limitation has led to the use of rapamycin analogues (rapalogs) which do not bind efficiently to the wild-type FRAP kinase (164).

1.4.2.1 The mifepristone inducible system

Used in this study is the mifepristone inducible system, which has been well characterised. It is a valuable tool for gene therapy particularly for applications requiring efficient spatiotemporal gene expression with minimal toxic effects.

Mifepristone is a synthetic steroid known to have antiprogestin and antiglucocorticoid activity (165). It has been approved for human use for the termination of pregnancy and has been shown to be effective at doses ranging from 200-600 mg (166). Mifepristone has been well characterised and its metabolism, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in humans have been elucidated (167),((165). It has also been identified as having potential in the treatment of steroid-dependent tumours (168) and Cushing's syndrome (169). In addition, the side effects associated with mifepristone are moderate and it has been used safely long-term at doses up to 20 mg/kg in humans (170, 171).

The mifepristone inducible system was designed following the observation that a 42 amino

acid deletion in the C-terminal of the ligand-binding domain (LBD) of the human progesterone receptor rendered it incapable of binding to natural progestins. However, this mutant (hPRB891) retained its ability to bind and respond to synthetic antiprogestins such as mifepristone (RU486), not as antagonists but as agonists (172). Activation of gene expression by mifepristone is ideal compared to progestin agonists as it does not activate endogenous progesterone receptors which could result in pleiotropic effects in cells. The hPRB891 mutant was further modified to prevent activation of progesterone receptormediated genes in the presence of mifepristone thus giving rise to the mifepristone inducible system (173).

The main component of the first version of this system was the chimaeric regulator (GLVP) (Figure 1.3a) comprising the modified C-terminal ligand-binding domain of hPRB891 fused to the yeast transcriptional activator GAL4 and the activation domain from the HSV protein VP16 (174). The GAL4 region used serves a DNA-binding function (175), a GLVP dimerisation function (176) and contains a nuclear localisation signal (177). Replacing the DNA-binding domain of the progesterone receptor with that of GAL4 eliminated the possibility of activating endogenous progesterone-responsive genes. This modification also ensured that only genes with GAL4 DNA-binding sites would be activated in the presence of mifepristone. In addition, GAL4-activated genes have as yet not been identified in mammalian cells further ensuring that only the target gene would be activated (174).



Figure 1.3: The structures of the mifepristone transactivator (TA) proteins.

(a) The first-generation transactivator, GLVP, comprises the activation domain VP16 derived from the HSV, the GAL4 DNA binding domain (GAL4 DBD) which is derived from yeast and the mutated progesterone ligand binding domain with a truncation of 42 C-terminal amino acids (PRLBD-891). (b) The structure of the modified GLVP transactivator. In $GL_{914}VP_C$ the VP16 domain is located in the C-terminus of the molecule and the length of the mutated progesterone ligand-binding domain is increased to 914 aa. (c) The structure of the second-generation transactivator, GLp65. It consists of the GAL4 DNA binding domain, the mutated progesterone ligand binding domain, PRLBD-914, with a truncation of 19 C-terminal amino acids and the activation domain of the p65 protein derived from NF- κ B.

Following the observation that the GLVP regulator could effectively activate genes under the control of the thymine kinase gene (*tk*) promoter but was weaker under the control of a minimal promoter such as the TATA box, modifications were made to improve the transactivation potential of the regulator. Firstly, the VP16 domain was moved from the N terminus of the molecule to the C terminus. Secondly, the length of the mutated progesterone ligand-binding domain was increased by adding 23 amino acids, increasing its affinity for mifepristone. The new $GL_{914}VP_c$ (Figure 1.3b) construct exhibited enhanced transactivation potential and responded to concentrations of mifepristone 10-fold lower than the original construct without increasing the basal activity in the absence of the inducer (178).

The newest generation of the mifepristone inducible system consists of the GLp65 transactivator and is similar in function to the first generation system but differs structurally in two ways (Figure 1.3c). Firstly, to reduce immunogenic effects the virally derived VP16 activation domain was replaced with the human p65 transactivation domain, a component of the NF- κ B complex (179). Secondly, it consists of the previously mentioned PRLBD-914 which is the truncated form of the progesterone ligand-binding domain with a deletion of 19 C-terminal amino acids instead of the original 42. This modified system shows lower basal activity in the absence of mifepristone and enhanced transgene activation when the inducer is administered. Tissue specific transgene expression was also achieved with GLp65 by coupling the regulator to the liver specific TTR promoter (180). The safety concerns associated with the constitutive expression of the GLp65 transactivator protein have also been addressed. The activation domain of GLp65 has been shown to interact with various transcription regulation and signaling factors. In

addition, the ligand-binding domain can bind heat-shock proteins and transcriptional coactivators. However, genome-wide microarray analysis performed in mice that had expressed the protein for a month revealed that there were no morphological or biochemical changes in the livers of the mice suggesting that the protein is well-tolerated (181). The absence of toxicity further demonstrates the safety of the mifepristone inducible system for use *in vivo*.

Despite the modifications, both generations of the mifepristone regulatory system function similarly (Figure 1.4). Using the GLp65 system as an example: in the absence of mifepristone, the GLp65 protein is constitutively expressed in tissues but remains inactive. Binding of mifepristone to the PRLBD-914 domain results in dimerisation of GLp65 and translocation to the nucleus. In the nucleus, the GAL4 DNA-binding domain interacts with the GAL4 upstream activation sequences (UAS) in the promoter of the target gene. This results in the p65 transactivation domain being in close enough proximity to activate target gene expression (173).

The system typically consists of two expression cassettes; one containing the regulator/transactivator protein and another containing the gene of interest. The transactivator can be under the control of any promoter and the target can be any gene placed under the control of a minimal promoter e.g. TATA box and four high-affinity GAL4 DNA-binding sites (173) (Figure 1.4).







The first expression cassette consists of a GAL4 binding site, the *ElB* TATA promoter upstream of the transgene and the BGHpA transcription stop signal. The second expression cassette consists of the TTRB fragment comprising a liver-specific promoter and enhancer from which the GLp65 transactivator is expressed and the SV40pA transcription stop signal. The GLp65 transactivator consists of the GAL4 DNA binding domain, the mutated progesterone ligand-binding domain PRLBD-914 and the transactivation domain p65. Binding of mifepristone to the PRLBD-914 domain results in dimerisation of GLp65 and translocation to the nucleus. In the nucleus, the GAL4 DBD domain interacts with the GAL4 upstream activation sequences (UAS) in the *E1B* promoter. This results in the activation of target gene expression by p65.

Activation of gene expression *in vitro* using this strategy was observed with concentrations of mifepristone as low as 0.1 nM and maximal levels of expression were achieved with 1 nM of the inducer (174). Wang and colleagues demonstrated that gene expression could be activated at mifepristone concentrations about 1000-fold lower than those required for termination of pregnancy (600 mg or about 10 mg/kg) (174). *In vivo* studies were carried out in transgenic mice where GLVP was expressed from the liver specific transthyretin (TTR) promoter. The authors demonstrated 1500-fold and 3500-fold induction after the oral administration of 250 μ g/kg and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone respectively. Gene expression was confined to the liver and minimal expression was observed in the absence of mifepristone. In addition, a daily dose of 100 μ g/kg of mifepristone from day 1 of mating did not cause pregnant mice to abort and did not result in developmental defects in the offspring (182). This indicates that the concentrations of mifepristone required for gene expression will not likely lead to detrimental effects.

The mifepristone inducible system has been shown to be versatile and amenable to use in different applications. Wang and colleagues demonstrated its function as an inducible repressor of gene expression by replacing the VP16 activation domain with the Krüppel-associated box (KRAB) repression domain. The inducible repressor inhibited chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) activity two to six-fold in the presence of mifepristone (178). In another variation, the promoter for the regulator protein is replaced with an autoinducible promoter that consists of GAL4 sites linked to a minimal *tk* promoter. When mifepristone is added, the regulator protein, initially present at low levels, becomes activated and binds to its own GAL4 sites as well as those of the transgene. This results in the activation of the transgene as well as the regulator itself in a progressive self-

amplifying process. This autoinducible system has been demonstrated to exhibit tighter regulation of gene expression compared to the original system (183). To avoid the possible toxicity associated with high levels of GAL4 expression, the GAL4 DBD has been substituted with the DNA-binding domain of the bacterial LexA repressor. This modification allowed inducible and specific gene expression in transgenic zebrafish (184).

Compatibility with viral vectors is an added advantage and delivery has been achieved *in vivo* using adenoviral (185), helper-dependent adenoviral (180), lentiviral (186) and HSV vectors (187). In addition, delivery has been demonstrated using non viral methods- direct injection of plasmid DNA into the hind-limb muscles of mice followed by electroporation. The authors demonstrated that multiple cycles of transgene regulation could be achieved by repeated induction with mifepristone (188). This system has also previously been used for the long-term, regulated and tissue specific expression of human interleukin-12 (hIL-12) as a potential therapy for liver cancer (189). Crettaz and colleagues went on to express murine interleukin-12 (mIL-12) successfully in a mifepristone-dependent manner using a helper-dependent adenoviral vector in the woodchuck model of HBV infection. Woodchucks treated with mIL-12 showed a marked and sustained reduction of viraemia as well as a reduction in woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) DNA, a loss of e and surface antigen and improved liver histology. In addition, the authors demonstrated that IL-12 gene transfer to the liver is capable of breaking the immunotolerance to viral antigens that is observed following neonatal infection with the virus (190).

1.4.2.2 Other inducible systems

The inducible systems discussed all have the added benefit of compatibility with viral vectors thus facilitating efficient delivery [reviewed in (153)]. Apart from systems induced by small molecules, several others have been designed to respond to other stimuli such as pH (191), heat shock (192), light (193), radiation (194), glucose (195) and hypoxia (196) although not all will be useful in clinical applications. In addition, gene regulation has been achieved with two- or three- component small-molecule activated gene switches [reviewed in (194)]. For example, the heat-shock induction of hsp70 has recently been combined with a rapamycin-dependent gene switch to further improve the spatiotemporal control of gene expression (197). The latest generation of inducible systems involves technologies that allow for the coordinated expression of several transgenes as well as the independent regulation of different sets of transgenes, In addition, epigenetic expression switches and gene networks with intrinsic expression memory have also been investigated [reviewed in (198)]. Another potentially powerful tool in gene regulation is the ability to control the removal of a gene when desired as has been achieved with the Cre-Lox system. The Cre-Lox system is comprised of a gene flanked by LoxP sites thus allowing the gene to be deleted when the Cre recombinase enzyme is expressed in the cell (199). This strategy has previously been used for the conditional, Cre-Lox regulated control of RNAi (200). In addition, coupling of this system with a regulatory system such as the mifepristone inducible system enables the inducible knockout of specific genes and thus contributes to generating valuable gene ablation models (201). More advances in the development of regulatable systems of gene expression are anticipated and will contribute to the feasibility of gene therapy strategies in the clinic.

1.5 Problem statement

The mifepristone inducible system is evidently a powerful tool with potential use in many applications and could contribute to the development of a safe and efficient treatment strategy against HBV and the overall advancement of RNAi to the clinic.

This study used this system to address some of the major limitations preventing the development of RNAi-based therapeutics against HBV. Current treatment strategies are only partially effective highlighting the urgent need for alternative treatments. The current limitations regarding the use of RNAi in the treatment of HBV infection mainly involve problems of delivery, targeting, dose regulation and safety. Therefore this study made use of the mifepristone inducible system for the tissue-specific and regulatable expression of anti-HBV pri-miR mimics. The Pol II CMV promoter driven mono- and polycistronic mimics of naturally occurring pri-miR-31 were designed in our lab, whereby anti-HBV sequences were used to substitute the guide and the complementary sequences (pri-miR-31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9). These CMV-expressed mimics of pri-miR-31 have previously been demonstrated to effect efficient knockdown of HBV replication (57, 78). In this study the pri- miR-31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequences were incorporated into the mifepristone inducible system to enable their dose regulation and liver specific expression. The regulator used is under the control of a liver-specific promoter thus ensuring gene expression is confined to hepatocytes, the primary site of HBV infection. In addition, the regulator is designed to only activate the expression of the pri- miRs in the presence of the inducer mifepristone. The ability to fine-tune transgene expression with mifepristone will address the dose-regulation and toxicity concerns associated with expressed RNAi activators.

1.6 Aims and objectives

The main aim of this study was to express the anti-HBV pri-miR-31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequences under the control of a liver-specific and inducible promoter *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Objectives:

- 1. To construct mifepristone inducible promoter-driven pri-miR-31/5, pri-miR-31/5/8/9 and the *Firefly luciferase* gene-containing plasmid.
- 2. To use the luciferase-expressing construct to test modulation by the inducible promoter in liver-derived Huh7 cells and in mice by measuring *Firefly luciferase* gene expression at different concentrations of the inducer mifepristone.
- To assess HBV knockdown in Huh7 cells transfected with pri-miR-expressing and HBV target constructs using ELISA and the Dual Luciferase assay.
- 4. To measure HBV knockdown in mice injected with anti-HBV and target plasmids via tail vein hydrodynamic injection using bioluminescence imaging.

CHAPTER 2

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Bacterial methods

2.1.1 Culturing of Escherichia coli in Luria Bertani medium

The XL1-Blue strain of *E.coli* was grown on Luria Bertani agar (LA) or in Luria Bertani medium (LB) (Appendix 6.1) overnight at 37°C. Liquid cultures were shaken at 200-250 rpm. *E.coli* strains carrying ampicillin resistance plasmid were cultured in medium containing ampicillin antibiotic (Appendix 6.1) at a concentration of 100 µg/ml.

2.1.2 Preparation of chemically competent *E.coli* cells

E.coli cells from a freezer stock or a single colony were inoculated into LB and the culture incubated overnight at 37°C with shaking at 200-250 rpm. The pre-culture was diluted 100-fold and incubated at 37°C with shaking at 200-250 rpm until the absorbance reading at 600 nm was between 0.4-0.6. Following this, the cells were centrifuged at 3200 g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in 20 ml of transformation buffer (Appendix 6.1) for every 100 ml of culture and incubated on ice for 20 minutes. The cells were centrifuged at 800 g for 15 minutes at 4°C and the pellet resuspended in 1 ml of transformation buffer. Aliquots of 100 μ l were transferred to sterile microcentrifuge tubes and stored at -70°C.

2.1.3 Transformation of chemically competent E.coli cells

Competent *E.coli* cells were added to 1 ng of DNA and incubated for 10 minutes on ice. For the transformation of ligation reactions (Section 2.3.5), the whole ligation mixture was used. After incubation, the cells were placed in a water bath at 42°C for 90 seconds. Immediately after heat-shock 500 μ l of LB pre-warmed at 37°C was added to the cells and incubation carried out at 37°C for 1 hour. After 1 hour the cells were plated onto LA plates pre-warmed at 37°C and were incubated overnight at 37°C.

For blue-white screening, X-Gal (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-40 μl of galactopyranoside) (Appendix and 8 IPTG (isopropyl-beta-D-6.1) μl of thiogalactopyranoside) (Appendix 6.1) were added to each LA plate and evenly spread on the surface. The plates were dried at 37 °C for 10 minutes. The transformed cells were plated and incubated overnight at 37°C. White colonies were picked for screening.

2.2 Plasmid DNA isolation and purification

2.2.1 Small scale plasmid preparation ('mini prep')

A single colony containing the plasmid of interest was inoculated into 1 ml of LB containing ampicillin at a concentration of 100 μ g/ml and incubated overnight at 37°C with shaking at 200-250 rpm. The culture was transferred to a microcentrifuge tube and centrifuged at 12 000 g for 30 seconds at room temperature. The pellet was resuspended in 100 μ l of Buffer P1 (Appendix 6.1) then the cells lysed by adding 200 μ l of Buffer P2 (Appendix 6.1). The solution was mixed thoroughly and incubated at room temperature for

was centrifuged at 16 100 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a clean microcentrifuge tube and left at room temperature for 5 minutes. DNA precipitation was carried out by adding an equal volume of room-temperature isopropanol and incubating at -20°C for 5 minutes. After incubation, the DNA was centrifuged at 16 100 g for 15 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant decanted. The DNA pellet was washed with 200 μ l of 70% ethanol chilled to 4°C then centrifuged at 16 100 g for 1 minute at 4°C. The supernatant was decanted and the pellet air-dried at room temperature for 20 minutes. The DNA was redissolved by adding 50 μ l of deionised water and incubating at room temperature for 30 minutes.

Small scale preparations of DNA for sequencing were purified using the Roche High Pure Plasmid Isolation kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.2 Large scale plasmid preparation ('bulk prep')

A single colony containing the plasmid of interest was inoculated into 400 ml of LB containing ampicillin at a concentration of 100 μ g/ml and incubated overnight at 37°C with shaking at 200-250 rpm. The culture was centrifuged at 6800 g for 5 minutes at room temperature. The pellet was resuspended in 5 ml of Buffer P1 (Appendix 6.1) then the cells lysed by adding 10 ml of Buffer P2 (Appendix 6.1). The solution was mixed thoroughly and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Following incubation, 7.5 ml of Buffer

P3 (Appendix 6.1) was added. The solution was mixed thoroughly and incubated on ice for 5 minutes. The bacterial lysate was centrifuged at 3200 *g* for 30 minutes at 4°C then passed through cheese cloth. DNA precipitation was carried out by adding an equal volume of room-temperature isopropanol and incubating at -20° C for 30 minutes. After incubation, the DNA was centrifuged at 3200 *g* for 30 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant decanted. The DNA pellet was washed with 5 ml of 70% ethanol chilled to 4°C then centrifuged at 3200 *g* for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was decanted and the pellet air-dried at room temperature for 20 minutes. The DNA was redissolved by adding 200 µl of deionised water and incubating at 37°C for 30 minutes. The concentration of the DNA was measured on a Nanodrop[®] Spectrophotometer.

DNA used *in vivo* was isolated using either the Endofree[®] Plasmid Maxi Kit (Qiagen, MD, USA) or the Nucleobond Xtra Maxi EF kit (Macherey Nagel GmbH & Co. KG, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.3 Phenol-chloroform extraction

One third of the volume of phenol and one third of the volume of chloroform were added to the DNA. The mixture was centrifuged at 12 000 g for 5 minutes at room temperature. The top layer was removed and transferred to a clean microcentrifuge tube. One third of the volume of chloroform was again added and the mixture was centrifuged at 12 000 g for 1 minute at room temperature. The top layer was removed and transferred to a clean microcentrifuge tube. An equal volume of room-temperature isopropanol was added. The tube was inverted to ensure thorough mixing then centrifuged at 16 100 g for 20 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was carefully poured off and 150 µl of 70% ethanol chilled to 4°C was added to wash the pellet. The pellet was centrifuged at 16 100 g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The ethanol was poured off and the pellet air-dried at room temperature for 20 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in 200 μ l of deionised water and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes.

2.2.4 DNA purification from an agarose gel

Agarose gel electrophoresis

To make a 1% gel, 0.5 g of agarose was added to 50 ml of $1 \times \text{TAE}$ (tris-acetate-EDTA) buffer (Appendix 6.1) and heated in a microwave for 2 minutes at maximum power. Deionised water was used to make the volume up to 50 ml after heating. The agarose was left to cool then 5 µl of 2 mg/ml ethidium bromide was added to enable visualisation of DNA. The agarose was poured into a gel tray and allowed to set at room temperature. Once the gel had solidified it was placed into a gel tank containing $1 \times \text{TAE}$ buffer. Orange DNA Loading Dye (1×) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) was added to the DNA and the samples loaded into the gel wells. O' GeneRuler DNA Ladder Mix (1 µg) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) was loaded in one well alongside the samples. Electrophoresis was carried out for 1 hour at 100V.

DNA purification

The agarose gel was placed under UV light and a sharp clean scalpel used to excise the desired DNA fragment. Nylon filter wool was placed in a 500 μ l microcentrifuge tube and a small hole pierced in the bottom of the tube using a sterile heated needle. The gel fragment was placed in the 500 μ l microcentrifuge tube which was then placed inside a 2

ml microcentrifuge tube. The gel fragment was centrifuged at 16 100 g at 4°C until all the liquid had passed into the 2 ml microcentrifuge tube. The DNA was purified by phenol chloroform extraction (Section 2.2.3)

PCR products were subjected to electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel and purified using the MinElute[®] Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen, MD, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.3 Enzymatic manipulations of DNA

2.3.1 Restriction digestion

Restriction digestion was used for the preparation of cloning vectors and inserts as well as for the screening of transformants. Each digestion mixture contained up to 2 μ g of DNA. Digestions were carried out with restriction enzyme in the manufacturer's recommended restriction buffer and at the recommended temperature overnight. Restriction enzymes were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (MA, USA) or New England Biolabs (MA, USA). The amounts of enzyme and buffer were scaled up accordingly for the digestion of greater amounts of DNA. The digested DNA fragments were separated by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel (Section 2.2.4).

2.3.2 Vector desphosphorylation

Up to 5 μ g of DNA was digested and the restriction enzyme inactivated at 65 °C for 20 minutes for both *Swa*I and *Cla*I. To remove 5' phosphate groups from the ends of the

vector and prevent re-ligation, one tenth of the volume of $10\times$ Antarctic Phosphatase Reaction Buffer and 1 µl of Antarctic Phosphatase (New England Biolabs, MA, USA) was added to the DNA. The mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 60 minutes for 5' extensions or blunt ends and 120 minutes for 3' extensions. The reaction was heat inactivated at 65°C for 5 minutes and the DNA purified using gel extraction (Section 2.2.4).

2.3.3 Klenow reaction

To fill in 5' overhangs following restriction digestion the Klenow reaction was carried out. Up to 4 μ g of linear DNA was added to each reaction mixture. To each reaction, 2 μ l of 10× reaction buffer and 0.5 μ l dNTP mix (2 mM each) was added followed by 1-5 U of the Klenow fragment (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA). The mixture was made up to 20 μ l with nuclease-free water then mixed thoroughly and incubated at 37°C for 10 minutes.

2.3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction

The amplification of DNA was carried out using PCR. Each reaction contained 1-10 ng of template DNA, $1\times$ DreamTaq buffer, 0.2 mM dNTP mix, 0.2 μ M forward and reverse primer, DreamTaq DNA Polymerase (5 U/ μ l) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) and nuclease-free water up to 50 μ l according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each PCR, the cycling conditions were as follows: Initial denaturation at 95°C for 5 minutes, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 60°C for 30 seconds and extension at 72°C. A suitable extension time was calculated for each reaction based on the size of the DNA sequence to be amplified. A final extension step was carried out at 72°C for 5 minutes. Colony PCR was used for the screening of transformants. One

colony was added to 10 μ l of deionised water and 1 μ l per reaction used as the template. For the amplification of DNA to be used for cloning, High Fidelity enzyme (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) was used.

2.3.5 DNA ligation

Ligations were carried out using the Fast-Link DNA Ligation kit (Epicentre Biotechnologies, WI, USA). For ligations of insert DNA with cohesive ends, each reaction contained 1.5 μ l of 10× Fast-Link Ligation buffer, 1.5 μ l of 10 mM ATP, 1 μ l of Fast-Link DNA Ligase (2 U/ μ l) and different ratios of vector and insert. Each reaction was made up to 15 μ l with deionised water. For ligations of insert DNA with blunt ends, each reaction contained 1.5 μ l of 10× Fast-Link Ligation buffer, 0.75 μ l of 10 mM ATP, 1 μ l of Fast-Link DNA Ligase (2 U/ μ l) and different ratios of vector and insert. Each reaction was made up to 15 μ l of 10× Fast-Link Ligation buffer, 0.75 μ l of 10 mM ATP, 1 μ l of Fast-Link DNA Ligase (2 U/ μ l) and different ratios of vector and insert. Each reaction was made up to 15 μ l with deionised water. The ligations were incubated at 4°C overnight. Following incubation the reactions were placed in a heating block at 70°C for 15 minutes to inactivate the Fast-Link DNA ligase. The reactions were centrifuged briefly and the entire ligation mixture transformed into *E.coli* cells.

For cloning of PCR products, the InsTAcloneTM PCR Cloning Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) was used. Each reaction mixture contained 1 μ l of the vector pTZ57R/T (55 ng/ μ l), 6 μ l of 5× ligation buffer, PCR product to a 1:3 ratio vector: insert, 1 μ l of T4 DNA ligase (5 U/ μ l) and nuclease-free water up to 30 μ l. The ligations were incubated at 4°C overnight. The entire ligation mixture was transformed into *E.coli* cells.

2.4 Plasmids

Plasmid	Description	Source/reference
pCI-neo	Mammalian expression vector	Promega, WI, USA
pCI-pri-miR-31/5	pCI-neo carrying the monocistronic anti- HBV pri-miR-31/5 sequence	Ely et al., 2008 (57)
pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9	pCI-neo carrying the polycistronic anti-HBV pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence	Ely et al., 2009 (78)
pCI-FLuc	pCI-neo carrying the Firefly luciferase gene	Ely and Arbuthnot, 2010 (40)
pTZ57R/T	TA cloning vector	Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA
pTZ-31/5	pTZ57R/T carrying the pri-miR-31/5 sequence with engineered NarI sites	This work
pTZ-31/5/8/9	pTZ57R/T carrying the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence with engineered SwaI and NarI sites	This work
pTZ-Luc	pTZ57R/T carrying the <i>Firefly luciferase</i> gene with engineered ClaI sites	This work
pRS17	Plasmid carrying the mifepristone inducible system	Dr Gonzalez- Aseguinolaza (CIMA, Spain)
pRS-31/5	pRS17 carrying the pri-miR-31/5 sequence	This work
pRS-31/5/8/9	pRS17 carrying the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence	This work
pRS-Luc	pRS17 carrying the <i>Firefly luciferase</i> gene	This work
phRL-CMV	Mammalian expression and reporter vector which constitutively expresses <i>Renilla</i> luciferase from a CMV promoter. Firefly luciferase activity is relativised to <i>Renilla</i> luciferase.	Promega, WI, USA
pCH-9/3091	Target vector which contains a greater than genome length HBV sequence	Nassal, 1992 (39)
pCH Firefly Luc	Target vector in which the <i>preS2/S</i> ORF of pCH-9/3091 is substituted with the <i>Firefly luciferase</i> gene	Ely et al., 2008 (57)
psiCHECK-HBx	Reporter target vector which contains the <i>HBx</i> sequence downstream of the Renilla <i>luciferase</i> ORF	Weinberg <i>et al.</i> , 2006 (44)
pCI-neo eGFP	Plasmid vector which constitutively expresses enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP)	Passman <i>et al.</i> , 2000 (40)

Table 2.1: Plasmids used and constructed in this study

2.5 Construction of plasmids expressing anti-HBV sequences and the *Firefly luciferase* gene from the mifepristone inducible system

2.5.1 Construction of pRS-31/5

A large scale preparation of pRS17 (Table 2.1) was digested with *Cla*I and vector dephosphorylation carried out. The pri-miR-31/5 sequence was amplified from pCI-pri-miR-31/5 (Table 2.1) using oligonucleotide primers engineered to incorporate *Nar*I restriction sites (Table 2.2) at both ends of the sequence. Digestion with *Nar*I produces ends compatible with the *Cla*I restriction site, therefore incorporating *Nar*I sites facilitated cloning into the pRS17 vector digested with *Cla*I. The pri-miR-31/5 amplicon was ligated into the pTZ57R/T vector (Table 2.1) using the InsTAcloneTM PCR Cloning Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) giving pTZ-31/5. To check for inadvertent errors which may have been introduced by PCR, one positive clone was sequenced (Inqaba Biotec, South Africa). The pri-miR-31/5 fragment was excised from pTZ-31/5 using *Nar*I and ligated into the *Cla*I site of pRS17 using the Fast-Link DNA Ligation Kit (Epicentre Biotechnologies, WI, USA) protocol for cohesive ends to create pRS-31/5 (Figure 2.1).

2.5.2 Construction of pRS-31/5/8/9

A large scale preparation of pRS17 was digested with *Cla*I followed by digestion with *Swa*I and vector dephosphorylation carried out. The pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence was amplified from pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 (Table 2.1) using oligonucleotide primers engineered to incorporate *Swa*I and *Nar*I restriction sites at either end of the sequence (Table 2.2). Engineering *Swa*I and *Nar*I restriction sites facilitated cloning into the pRS17 vector digested with *Swa*I and *Cla*I. The pri-miR-31/5/8/9 amplicon was ligated into the



Figure 2. 1: Construction of pRS-31/5.

The empty vector pRS17 was digested with *Cla*I and vector dephosphorylation carried out. The pri-miR-31/5 sequence was amplified from pCI-pri-miR-31/5 using oligonucleotide primers engineered to incorporate *Nar*I restriction sites at both ends of the sequence. The pri-miR-31/5 amplicon was ligated into the pTZ57R/T vector giving pTZ-31/5. The primiR-31/5 fragment was excised from pTZ-31/5 using *Nar*I and ligated into the *Cla*I site of pRS17 to create pRS-31/5. pRS-31/5/8/9 and pRS-Luc were constructed similarly with *SwaI/Nar*I or *Cla*I sites incorporated at both ends of the sequence respectively. pTZ57R/T vector using the InsTAcloneTM PCR Cloning Kit giving pTZ-31/5/8/9. To check for inadvertent errors which may have been introduced by PCR, one positive clone was sequenced (Inqaba Biotec, South Africa). The pri-miR-31/5/8/9 fragment was excised from pTZ-31/5/8/9 using *Swa*I and *Nar*I and ligated into the *Swa*I and *Cla*I sites of pRS17 using the Fast-Link DNA Ligation Kit protocol for blunt ends to create pRS-31/5/8/9.

2.5.3 Construction of pRS-Luc

A large scale preparation of pRS17 was digested with *Cla*1 and vector dephosphorylation carried out. The *Firefly luciferase* gene was amplified from pCI-FLuc (Table 2.1) using oligonucleotide primers engineered to incorporate *Cla*I restriction sites (Table 2.2) at both ends of the sequence. Engineering *Cla*I restriction sites onto the *luciferase* fragment facilitated cloning into the pRS17 vector digested with *Cla*I. The *luciferase* amplicon was ligated into the pTZ57R/T vector using the InsTAcloneTM PCR Cloning Kit giving pTZ-Luc. To check for inadvertent errors which may have been introduced by PCR, one positive clone was sequenced (Inqaba Biotec, South Africa). The *luciferase* fragment was excised from pTZ-Luc using *Cla*I and ligated into the *Cla*I site of pRS17 using the Fast-Link DNA Ligation Kit protocol for cohesive ends to create pRS-Luc.

2.5.4 Separating pRS-31/5/8/9 into the transgene and transactivator expression cassettes

To obtain a plasmid containing the GLp65 transactivator only, the cassette containing the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence was deleted from pRS-31/5/8/9 by digestion with *AscI* followed by the Klenow reaction and digestion with *PmeI*, creating the GLp65 plasmid.

The transgene expression cassette containing the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence was obtained primers by amplification from pRS-31/5/8/9 using (5'-Cassette1F AGGCACCCCAGGCTTTAC-3) Cassette1R (5'and GGGGATCCTCTAGAGCTACCTG-3'). The pri-miR-31/5/8/9-containing amplicon was ligated into the pTZ57R/T vector using the InsTAcloneTM PCR Cloning Kit giving pTZpri-miR. To check for inadvertent errors which may have been introduced by PCR, one positive clone was sequenced (Inqaba Biotec, South Africa).

Table 2.2: Oligonucleotides used for the amplification of the pri-miR-31/5 and primiR-31/5/8/9 sequences and the *Firefly luciferase* gene

	Pri-miR-31/5	
NarIF NarIR	5'-GATC GGCGCC CAGGTGTCCACTCCCAGTTC-3' 5'-GATC GGCGCC CCTCACTAAAGGGAAGCGGC-3'	
	Pri-miR-31/5/8/9	
SwaIF NarIR	5'-GATC ATTTAAAT CAGGTGTCCACTCCCAGTTC-3' 5'-GATC GGCGCC CCTCACTAAAGGGAAGCGGC-3'	
	Firefly luciferase	
<i>Cla</i> IF <i>Cla</i> IR	5'-GATC ATCGAT CAGGTGTCCACTCCCAGTTC-3' 5'-GATC ATCGAT CCTCACTAAAGGGAAGCGGC-3'	

Restriction sites are indicated in bold

2.6 Tissue culture methods

2.6.1 Cell culture growth conditions

The human hepatoma cell line, Huh7, was maintained in a humidified incubator at 37° C and 5% CO₂ in DMEM growth medium (Appendix 6.2) supplemented with 10% (w/v) foetal calf serum (FCS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) and Penicillin (100 000 U/ml) and Streptomycin (100 µg/ml) (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA).

2.6.2 Passaging of Huh7 cells

The cells were cultured in 75 cm² flasks and were passaged when they reached a density covering 90% of the culture flask surface. The culture medium was aspirated and discarded. Following this, the cells were washed once with 10 ml of saline containing 0.01% EDTA and incubated in 5ml of saline-EDTA for 5 minutes in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Following incubation, the saline-EDTA was discarded and 1 ml of $0.5 \times$ trypsin-EDTA (Appendix 6.2) added to the cells. After incubation for 1 minute in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂, the cells were detached from the surface of the culture flask by gently tapping the flask then aspirated and transferred to a clean 50 ml tube. The volume of cells required for the desired cell density was left in the tube and the rest of the cells were discarded. To inactivate the trypsin, 20 ml of DMEM growth medium containing 10% (w/v) FCS and Penicillin/Streptomycin warmed to 37°C was added to the cells and the cells vortexed briefly. Following this, the cells were transferred to a clean culture flask and incubated in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

For seeding in 24 well plates, after the cells were detached from the culture flask antibiotic-free DMEM growth medium containing FCS was added. The cells were seeded at a density of 3×10^5 cells per well and grown overnight in a humidified incubator at 37° C and 5% CO₂.

2.6.3 Transfection of eukaryotic cells

Transfection of Huh7 cells was carried out using Lipofectamine 2000TM (Life Technologies, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Twenty-four hours prior to transfection cells were transferred to antibiotic-free medium and seeded at a density of 3×10^5 cells per well in a 24-well plate. Each transfection mixture contained up to 800 ng of effector DNA, 100 ng of target plasmid and 100 ng of pCI-neo eGFP (Table 2.1). pCI-neo eGFP was included in each co-transfection as a means of verifying equivalent transfection efficiency using fluorescence microscopy. To each microgram of DNA to be transfected, 50µl of Opti-MEM (Life Technologies, CA, USA) was added and the mixture incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. For each microgram of DNA, 1 µl of Lipofectamine 2000TM was mixed with 49 µl of Opti-MEM and the mixture incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. After incubation, the DNA and Lipofectamine mixtures were combined and incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes for complex formation. To each well, 100 µl of the transfection mixture was added dropwise. Five hours after transfection, the medium was carefully removed from each well and replaced with 500 µl of antibiotic-free medium.

2.6.4 Measurement of Firefly luciferase activity in lysates

Huh7 cells in a 24 well plate were co-transfected with up to 500 ng of pRS-Luc, 100 ng of phRL-CMV (Table 2.1) to normalise Firefly luciferase expression and 100 ng of pCI-neo eGFP. Five hours after transfection the medium was carefully removed from each well and replaced with 500 µl of antibiotic-free medium containing different concentrations of mifepristone (10⁻¹⁰-10⁻⁵ M) for induced cells or ethanol for uninduced cells. Twenty-four hours after induction the medium was removed from the cells and the cell lysate used for the Dual-Luciferase[®] Reporter Assay System (Promega, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.6.5 Assessment of the *in vitro* efficacy of pri-miRs incorporated into the mifepristone inducible system

2.6.5.1 Assessing the efficacy of pri-miRs by ELISA

Huh7 cells in a 24 well plate were co-transfected with up to 500 ng of pRS-31/5 or pRS-31/5/8/9, 100 ng of target plasmid (pCH-9/3091) (Table 2.1) and 100 ng of pCI-neo eGFP. Five hours after transfection the medium was carefully removed from each well and replaced with 500 µl of antibiotic-free medium containing 10⁻⁹ M, 10⁻⁸ M or 10⁻⁷ M mifepristone (Appendix 6.2) for induced cells or ethanol for uninduced cells. Twenty-four hours after induction the supernatant was collected from the co-transfected cells. Knockdown of HBV replication was assessed by measuring the secretion of HBV surface antigen (HBsAg), a marker of HBV gene expression, in the culture supernatants by ELISA using the Monolisa[™] HBsAg Ultra Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.
2.6.5.2 Assessing the efficacy of pri-miRs using the Dual Luciferase Assay

Huh7 cells in a 24 well plate were co-transfected with up to 100 ng of pRS-31/5 or pRS-31/5/8/9, 100 ng of target plasmid (psiCHECK-*HBx*) (Table 2.1) and 100 ng of pCI-neo eGFP. Five hours after transfection the medium was carefully removed from each well and replaced with 500 μ l of antibiotic-free medium containing 10⁻¹⁰ M, 10⁻⁸ M or 10⁻⁵ M mifepristone for induced cells or ethanol for uninduced cells. Twenty-four hours after induction the medium was removed from the cells and the cell lysate used for the Dual-Luciferase[®] Reporter Assay System (Promega, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.7 Mouse studies

Female NMRI mice were used for all experiments (South African Vaccine Producers, South Africa). All procedures were carried out in accordance with protocols approved by the University of the Witwatersrand Animal Ethics Screening Committee. Animal ethics clearance number: 2010/10/04.

2.7.1 Measurement of Firefly luciferase activity in vivo

To assess gene expression under the control of the inducible system, mice were injected with the pRS-Luc construct and induced with 250 μ g/kg or 500 μ g/kg mifepristone or oil only (180, 189, 202). Mice received an intraperitoneal injection of mifepristone (Appendix 6.3) in a total volume of 100 μ l prior to plasmid delivery and for subsequent inductions. Up to 20 μ g of DNA was administered per mouse (78). The DNA was made up to a volume of 2.5 ml using saline and delivered to the mice using the hydrodynamic injection.

The luciferase substrate D-Luciferin, potassium salt (Gold Biotechnology, MO, USA), was dissolved in phosphate buffered saline to a final concentration of 15 mg/ml, filter sterilised and administered to the mice (150 mg/kg) via intraperitoneal injection 5-10 minutes prior to imaging. The mice were anaesthetised with isofluorane and imaging carried out using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at specified time points (PerkinElmer, MA, USA). Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software (PerkinElmer, MA, USA).

2.7.2 Assessment of the *in vivo* efficacy of pri-miRs incorporated into the mifepristone inducible system

To assess the HBV knockdown *in vivo*, mice were injected with pRS-31/5/8/9 and the target plasmid pCH Firefly Luc (Table 2.1) and induced with 250 µg/kg, 500 µg/kg or 1 mg/kg mifepristone or oil only (180, 188, 189, 202). Mice received an intraperitoneal injection of mifepristone in a total volume of 100 µl prior to plasmid delivery. Subsequently, induction was carried out daily. Up to 10 µg of DNA was administered per mouse. The required amount of DNA was made up to a volume of 2.5 ml using saline and delivered to the mice using the hydrodynamic injection. D-Luciferin was administered to the mice win intraperitoneal injection 5-10 minutes prior to imaging. The mice were anaesthetised with isofluorane and imaging carried out using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at 5 hours, day 3 and day 6. Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software.

2.8 Statistical analysis

Each assay was conducted a minimum of two times. Data are expressed as the normalised mean \pm the normalised standard deviation. Statistical difference was considered significant when p<0.05 and was determined according to the Student's paired two-tailed t-test. Calculations were done with the GraphPad software package (GraphPad Software Inc., CA, USA).

CHAPTER 3

3 RESULTS

3.1 Expression of the *Firefly luciferase* gene with the mifepristone inducible system *in vitro*

3. 1. 1 Induction of Firefly luciferase gene expression with mifepristone

The toxicity of RNAi effectors in hepatocytes remains an obstacle to the development of RNAi-based HBV treatment (67). The use of inducible promoters, whereby transgene expression is fine-tuned, could abolish these toxic effects. The mifepristone inducible system has been used to achieve inducible and tissue specific gene expression and therefore could contribute to developing a novel treatment strategy for HBV [reviewed in (173, 203)]. The inducible system used in this study consists of two expression cassettes; one containing the regulator/transactivator protein and another containing the transgene. The regulator of the mifepristone inducible system is under the control of a liver-specific promoter thus ensuring gene expression is confined to hepatocytes, the primary site of HBV infection. In addition, the regulator is designed to only activate gene expression in the presence of the inducer mifepristone.

Reporter assays such as the luciferase assay provide an easy method of assessing the levels of gene expression. Therefore a plasmid expressing Firefly luciferase under the control of the mifepristone inducible system was constructed. Briefly, the *Firefly luciferase* gene sequence was amplified using PCR and cloned into the *Cla*I site of the pRS17 vector bearing the mifepristone inducible system creating pRS-Luc.

pRS-Luc was then used to assess the regulation of gene expression and determine the optimal induction conditions in our hands. Huh7 cells were transfected with different amounts of the pRS-Luc construct and 100 ng of the phRL-CMV plasmid, which constitutively expresses *Renilla* luciferase. Firefly luciferase activity is therefore relativised to the *Renilla* luciferase background and gene expression is calculated as a ratio of the two. As a negative control, cells were transfected with 500 ng of the empty vector pRS17, corresponding to the highest amount of pRS-Luc transfected. Cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCI-Fluc in which the Firefly luciferase gene is incorporated into pCI-neo as a positive control, corresponding to the lowest amount of pRS-Luc transfected, or 100 ng of pCI-neo to normalise luciferase expression from pCI-Fluc. pCI-neo eGFP (100 ng) was included in each co-transfection and in subsequent experiments as a means of verifying equivalent transfection efficiency using fluorescence microscopy. Induction of gene expression has previously been achieved with 10⁻⁸ M mifepristone and has been shown to be dose responsive with higher expression observed at higher concentrations of mifepristone (10^{-7} M) (202). Therefore 10^{-8} M and 10^{-6} M mifepristone were the initial induction concentrations investigated. Firefly luciferase activity was measured using the Dual Luciferase Assay. Fold induction is expressed as the ratio of the average expression value obtained with each concentration of mifepristone and the average value obtained with the uninduced cells.

With all vector amounts of the pRS-Luc construct, significant gene expression was observed with both concentrations of mifepristone relative to the uninduced cells (0.0004>p<0.007). Overall, the induction of *Firefly luciferase* gene expression observed was 10-30-fold (Figure 3.1). These findings suggest that gene expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system is inducible. However, there appears to be higher

basal activity in the absence of mifepristone with increasing amounts of pRS-Luc as shown by the decreased fold induction with higher amounts of pRS-Luc (Figure 3.1)



Figure 3.1: Firefly luciferase gene expression with the inducible system in vitro.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of phRL-CMV and different amounts of pRS-Luc or 500 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCI-FLuc as a positive control or 100 ng of pCI-neo to normalise Firefly luciferase expression from pCI-Fluc. Five hours after transfection induction was carried out with 10^{-8} M mifepristone or 10^{-6} M mifepristone for induced cells or ethanol for uninduced cells. The Dual Luciferase Assay was carried out 24 hours after induction. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3). *p< 0.01, t test, relative to the uninduced cells.

3. 1. 2 Expression of the *Firefly luciferase* gene with the mifepristone inducible system is dose-dependent

Gene expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system has been shown to be dependent on the concentration of mifepristone both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (180, 188, 189, 202). To test for dose dependency, expression of Firefly luciferase from pRS-Luc was assessed in Huh7 cells induced with a wider range of mifepristone concentrations. As a result of minimal basal expression that was observed (Figure 3.1), 300 ng of the pRS-Luc construct was used. Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of phRL-CMV and 300 ng of the pRS-Luc construct or 300 ng of pRS17, pCI-FLuc or pCI-neo. Transfected cells were induced with different concentrations of mifepristone or left uninduced. The Dual Luciferase Assay was carried out 24 hours after induction.

A significant increase in induction of *Firefly luciferase* gene expression was observed at all concentrations of mifepristone compared to the uninduced cells (0.0001>p<0.03), with the greatest induction achieved with 10^{-9} M mifepristone (Figure 3.2). Interestingly, reduced induction was observed with the highest mifepristone concentrations investigated (10^{-5} M and 10^{-6} M). However, there was no significant difference between the induction achieved with 10^{-9} M mifepristone, 10^{-8} M mifepristone or 10^{-7} M mifepristone (p>0.05). The difference between the induction achieved with 10^{-6} M mifepristone or 10^{-5} M mifepristone was also not significant (p=0.98). Based on these observations, induction of gene expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system appears to be dependent on the concentration of mifepristone.

Chapter 3



Figure 3.2: Fold induction of *Firefly luciferase* gene expression *in vitro* at different concentrations of mifepristone.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of phRL-CMV and 300 ng of pRS-Luc or 300 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Cells were transfected with 300 ng of pCI-FLuc as a positive control or 300 ng of pCI-neo to normalise Firefly luciferase expression from pCI-FLuc. Five hours after transfection, induction was carried out with different concentrations of mifepristone or ethanol for uninduced cells. The Dual Luciferase Assay was carried out 24 hours after induction. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3). *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, t test, relative to the uninduced cells.

3.2 Knockdown of HBV gene expression with pri-miR mimics expressed under the control of the mifepristone inducible system *in vitro*

3.2.1 pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed under the control of the mifepristone inducible system reduces HBsAg secretion

Pri-miR mimics have been found to result in significant HBV gene expression knockdown *in vitro* (57, 78). Pol II and Pol III promoters have been widely used for the expression of RNAi effectors. However, Pol III promoters are constitutively active and have been shown to result in toxicity as a consequence of saturating the endogenous RNAi pathway (67). In addition, induction of the interferon response has been observed with Pol III promoters (129). In contrast, tissue specific and inducible expression can be achieved with Pol II promoters thus addressing the dose regulation and targeting problems associated with RNAi therapy. This study made use of an inducible system in which pri-miR expression is regulated by a transactivator expressed from a tissue-specific promoter. The ability to achieve inducible expression of RNAi effectors is an important consideration in the development of RNAi-based therapeutics.

HBsAg secretion is a marker of HBV gene expression and was used to investigate the antiviral efficacy of pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed from the mifepristone inducible system. Briefly, the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence was amplified using PCR and cloned into the *Swa*I and *ClaI* sites of the pRS17 vector bearing the mifepristone inducible system creating pRS-31-5/8/9.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of the target plasmid, pCH-9/3091, which contains a greater than genome length HBV sequence, and different amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9. As a negative control, cells were transfected with 500 ng of the empty vector pRS17 corresponding to the highest amount of pRS-31/5/8/9 transfected. Cells were transfected with either 500 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 as a positive control or 500 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. As a result of similar induction observed with 10^{-9} M, 10^{-8} M and 10^{-7} M mifepristone (Figure 3.2), the lowest concentration (10^{-9} M mifepristone) was used in this experiment; which may minimise the side effects associated with the antiprogestin and antiglucocorticoid activity of mifepristone (204). Therefore, cells were induced with 10^{-9} M mifepristone or left uninduced. After 24 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion.

A significant reduction in HBsAg was observed with all vector amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 after induction compared to pRS17 (0.0006>p<0.02) (Figure 3.3). However, a significant reduction in HBsAg was also observed with 300 ng and 500 ng of pRS-31/5/8/9 without induction compared to pRS17 (p=0.0090 and p=0.0069 respectively). There was no significant difference observed when comparing induced and uninduced cells with all vector amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 (p>0.05) suggesting that there was no induction of gene expression. In addition, the reduction in HBsAg secretion observed with uninduced cells suggests that there is leaky expression from pRS-31/5/8/9. We have also observed that there is high basal expression of pri-miR-31/5/8/9 *in vitro* with higher vector amounts (800 ng, data not shown) which could mask induction; therefore even lower amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 were investigated.



Figure 3.3: Assessment of HBsAg secretion from Huh7 cells transfected with the primiR-31/5/8/9 construct using ELISA.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCH-9/3091 and different amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 or 500 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Cells were transfected with 500 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 as a positive control or 500 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. Five hours after transfection induction was carried out with 10⁻⁹ M mifepristone or ethanol for uninduced cells. After 24 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3). *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, t test, relative to the pRS17 induced and uninduced cells.

3.2.2 Determining the optimum vector amount of pRS-31/5/8/9 required to reduce basal expression *in vitro*

Variations in the levels of gene expression and induction have been observed with the mifepristone inducible system (180, 188, 189). This variation seems to be dependent on factors such as the particular gene being expressed, the cell lines being used, whether expression is *in vitro* or *in vivo* and the delivery mechanism in the case of *in vivo* studies. Therefore it is important to optimise the system for each specific application.

High vector amounts of the pri-miR-31/5/8/9-expressing construct result in high basal levels of expression which could mask the induction that is achieved with the mifepristone inducible system. To reduce basal expression, the amount of pRS-31/5/8/9 would need to be optimised such that induction of gene expression can be achieved with minimal basal expression. Therefore low amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 were investigated with and without induction.

The measurement of HBsAg secretion was again used to assess the expression of pri-miR-31/5/8/9 from the mifepristone inducible system. Cells were transfected with 100 ng of the target plasmid, pCH-9/3091, and different amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9. As a negative control, cells were transfected with 50 ng of the empty vector pRS17 corresponding to the highest amount of pRS-31/5/8/9 transfected. Cells were transfected with either 800 ng of pCI-primiR-31/5/8/9 as a positive control or 800 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. At first, no induction was carried out to determine the vector amount of pRS-31/5/8/9 at which there is no or negligible basal expression in the absence of mifepristone. After 48 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion.

Without induction, there was no significant reduction in HBsAg observed with all amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 compared to pRS17 (p>0.05) (Figure 3.4A). This suggests that at the vector amounts investigated there was no basal expression of pri-miR-31/5/8/9.

In the subsequent experiment, induction was carried out to determine the lowest amount of pRS-31/5/8/9 which can be used to achieve induction with the mifepristone inducible system. Only the three lowest vector amounts (10 ng, 20 ng and 30 ng) of pRS-31/5/8/9 were investigated as they seemed to result in the least basal expression in the absence of mifepristone (Figure 3.4A). Cells were transfected with 100 ng of the target plasmid, pCH-9/3091, and different amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9. As a negative control, cells were transfected with 30 ng of pRS17 corresponding to the highest amount of pRS-31/5/8/9 transfected. As a result of the high induction observed with 10⁻⁹ M, 10⁻⁸ M and 10⁻⁷ M mifepristone (Figure 3.2), all three concentrations were investigated. Therefore 5 hours after transfection cells were induced with 10⁻⁹ M, 10⁻⁸ M or 10⁻⁷ M mifepristone or left uninduced. After 24 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion.

Upon addition of mifepristone there was no significant induction (expressed as fold knockdown) observed with any vector amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 compared to the uninduced cells (p>0.05) (Figure 3.4B). These observations suggest that for the expression of pri-miRs using the mifepristone inducible system, a balance between basal expression

and induction must be achieved. Both must be at acceptable levels such that tight regulation of gene expression can still be achieved. Therefore, in subsequent experiments a much wider range of vector amounts was investigated but attempts were made to keep the amounts added as low as possible.



Figure 3.4A: Determining the basal expression from pRS-31/5/8/9 in vitro.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCH-9/3091 and different amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 or 50 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Cells were transfected with 800 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 as a positive control or 800 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. No induction was carried out after transfection. After 48 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3).



Figure 3.4B: Optimising induction conditions for the expression of pri-miR-31/5/8/9 in vitro.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCH-9/3091, and different amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 or 30 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Five hours after transfection cells were induced with 10^{-9} M, 10^{-8} M or 10^{-7} M mifepristone or ethanol for uninduced cells. After 24 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3).

3.2.3 pri-miR-31/5 expressed under the control of the mifepristone inducible promoter reduces HBsAg secretion

To further investigate the possibility of using the mifepristone inducible system to regulate anti-HBV sequence expression, the plasmid expressing pri-miR-31/5 under the control of the inducible system was constructed. Briefly, the pri-miR-31/5 sequence was amplified using PCR and cloned into the *Cla*I site of the pRS17 vector bearing the mifepristone inducible system creating pRS-31/5.

Cells were transfected with 100 ng of the target plasmid, pCH-9/3091, and different amounts of pRS-31/5. As a negative control, cells were transfected with 500 ng of pRS17 corresponding to the highest amount of pRS-31/5 transfected. Cells were transfected with either 500 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5 as a positive control or 500 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5. Five hours after transfection cells were induced with 10⁻⁹ M mifepristone or left uninduced. After 24 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion.

A significant difference in HBsAg was observed with 50 ng, 300 ng and 500 ng of pRS-31/5 after induction compared to pRS17 (0.01>p<0.05) (Figure 3.5). However, with 50 ng and 300 ng of pRS-31/5 uninduced cells also resulted in a significant reduction in HBsAg compared to pRS17 (p=0.020 and p=0.012 respectively). Nonetheless, there was a significant difference in HBsAg secretion when comparing induced and uninduced cells observed with 50 and 500 ng of pRS-31/5 (p= 0.0049 and 0.013 respectively) indicating that there was some induction achieved with the pRS-31/5 construct. However, the reduction in HBsAg secretion observed with uninduced cells suggests that there is leaky expression from pRS-31/5. These observations confirm the results obtained with the pRS-31/5/8/9 construct (Figure 3.3). Therefore, pri-miR expression from the mifepristone inducible system appears to be leaky *in vitro*. Interestingly, the pRS-31/5/8/9 construct appears to result in reduction of HBsAg to a greater extent than the pRS-31/5/8/9 construct when compared to the pRS17 (p<0.01 compared to p<0.05) (Figure 3.3 & Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5: Assessment of HBsAg secretion from Huh7 cells transfected with the primiR-31/5 construct using ELISA.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCH-9/3091 and different amounts of pRS-31/5 or 500 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Cells were transfected with 500 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5 as a positive control or 500 ng of pCI-neo to normalise for pCI-pri-miR-31/5. Five hours after transfection cells were induced with 10^{-9} M mifepristone or ethanol for uninduced cells. After 24 hours the supernatant was collected and ELISA carried out to measure HBsAg secretion. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3). *p< 0.05, t test, relative to the pRS17 induced and uninduced cells.

3.3 Assessment of knockdown of HBV gene expression and mifepristone dose dependence following induction of pri-miR expression using the Dual Luciferase Assay

To confirm the results observed with ELISA, the Dual Luciferase Assay was used. The target plasmid used for the Dual Luciferase Assay, psiCHECK-*HBx*, contains the *HBx* sequence downstream of the Renilla *luciferase* ORF. Firefly luciferase is expressed constitutively, whereas *Renilla* luciferase is susceptible to silencing by anti-*HBx* sequences. Therefore a ratio of *Renilla* to Firefly luciferase activity is used as an indicator of target knockdown.

Cells were transfected with 100 ng of the target plasmid, psiCHECK-*HBx*, and different amounts of pRS-31/5 or pRS-31/5/8/9. As a negative control, cells were transfected with 100 ng of the empty vector pRS17 corresponding to the highest amount of pRS-31/5 and pRS-31/5/8/9 transfected. To minimise the basal expression, 100 ng was the highest amount of pRS-31/5 and pRS-31/5/8/9 investigated. Cells were transfected with either 100 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5 or pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 as positive controls or 100 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5 and pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. Five hours after transfection cells were induced with 10⁻¹⁰ M, 10⁻⁸ M and 10⁻⁵ M mifepristone or left uninduced. These concentrations of mifepristone were chosen because they resulted in significantly different induction of gene expression with the luciferase-expressing construct (Figure 3.2). After 24 hours the lysate was collected and used for the Dual Luciferase Assay.

Overall, with pRS-31/5, there was no significant HBV gene expression knockdown with both induced and uninduced cells compared to pRS17 under the conditions investigated

(p= 0.063-0.14) (Figure 3.6A). Interestingly, mifepristone dose-dependent knockdown was observed when a wide range of mifepristone concentrations was used (Figure 3.6B). A significant difference in knockdown was observed when comparing induced to uninduced cells with all vector amounts of pRS-31/5 with 10^{-5} M and with 25 ng and 100 ng with 10^{-8} M mifepristone. Unlike with pRS-Luc (Figure 3.2), 10^{-5} M mifepristone resulted in the greatest knockdown fold change. No significant difference was observed with any amount of pRS-31/5 with 10^{-10} M mifepristone (p>0.05). Similar to the ELISA data, these data indicate that there is some induction of HBV knockdown with the pRS-31/5 construct at the concentrations of mifepristone which were investigated.

Similarly, knockdown of HBV gene expression by pri-miR-31/5/8/9 and dose dependence under the control of the inducible system was then assessed using the Dual Luciferase Assay. Unlike with pRS-31/5 (Figure 3.6A), significant knockdown in gene expression was observed with both induced and uninduced cells with all vector amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 compared to pRS17 (Figure 3.7A). This supports the previous observations that pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed from the mifepristone inducible system results in greater silencing compared to pri-miR-31/5. Dose-dependent knockdown was observed (Figure 3.7B) although it was more variable than with pRS-31/5. Knockdown observed with uninduced cells further confirms that there is leaky expression of anti-HBV pri-miR sequences from the pRS17-derived constructs. Hence understanding the mechanism of leaky expression is important and will be beneficial in optimising the system.







Figure 3.6: Assessment of HBV gene expression knockdown in cultured Huh7 cells expressing pri-miR-31/5 using the Dual Luciferase Assay.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of psiCHECK-*HBx* and different amounts of pRS-31/5 or 100 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5 as a positive control or 100 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5. Five hours after transfection cells were induced with 10^{-8} M or 10^{-10} M, 10^{-8} M and 10^{-5} M mifepristone or ethanol for uninduced cells. Knockdown was assessed relative to pRS17 (A) and dose dependence was assessed relative to the uninduced cells (B). Fold knockdown is the ratio of the average knockdown obtained with each concentration of mifepristone and the average knockdown obtained with the uninduced cells. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3). *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, t test, relative to the pRS17 induced and uninduced cells (A) and the uninduced cells (B). А





Figure 3.7: Assessment of HBV gene expression knockdown in cultured Huh7 cells expressing pri-miR-31/5/8/9 using the Dual Luciferase Assay.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of psiCHECK-*HBx* and different amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 or 100 ng of the empty vector pRS17 as a negative control. Cells were transfected with 100 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 as a positive control or 100 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. Five hours after transfection cells were induced with 10^{-8} M or 10^{-10} M, 10^{-8} M and 10^{-5} M mifepristone or ethanol for uninduced cells. Knockdown was assessed relative to pRS17 (A) and dose dependence was assessed relative to the uninduced cells (B). Fold knockdown is the ratio of the average knockdown obtained with each concentration of mifepristone and average knockdown obtained with the uninduced cells. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3). *p< 0.05, *p<0.01, t test, relative to the pRS17 induced and uninduced cells (A) and the uninduced cells (B).

3.4 HBV knockdown with the separated constituent cassettes of the mifepristone inducible system

A reduction in HBsAg secretion was observed with both pRS-31/5/8/9 (Figure 3.3) and pRS-31/5 (Figure 3.5) in the absence of mifepristone. These observations were confirmed with the Dual Luciferase Assay (Figure 3.6A & Figure 3.7A) and suggest that expression of the pri-miRs from the mifepristone inducible system is leaky. In this system, in the absence of mifepristone the GLp65 transactivator protein is constitutively expressed but remains inactive. Binding of mifepristone to the ligand-binding domain of GLp65 results in dimerisation of GLp65 and translocation to the nucleus. In the nucleus, the GAL4 DNA-binding domain interacts with the GAL4 UAS in the promoter of the target gene. This results in the p65 transactivation domain being in close enough proximity to activate target gene expression (173). Therefore there are two possibilities which may account for the leaky expression observed: 1) GLp65 dimerises in the absence of mifepristone and translocates to the nucleus resulting in activation of the *E1B* promoter driving the pri-miR expression or, 2) The *E1B* promoter is active in the absence of mifepristone-activated GLp65.

To investigate the activity of the *E1B* promoter in the absence of mifepristone-activated GLp65, the expression cassette which contains pri-miR-31/5/8/9 under the control of the *E1B* promoter was separated from the cassette which contains the transactivator, GLp65. Briefly, the transgene expression cassette containing the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequence was amplified using PCR from pRS-31/5/8/9 and ligated into the pTZ57R/T vector giving pTZ-pri-miR. To obtain a plasmid containing the GLp65 transactivator only, the cassette containing the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 by digestion

with *Asc*I and *Pme*I, creating the GLp65 plasmid. Cells were transfected with 100 ng of the target plasmid, psiCHECK-*HBx*, and different amounts of pTZ-pri-miR or 500 ng of pTZ57R/T as a negative control, GLp65, or pRS17 corresponding to the highest amount of pTZ-pri-miR investigated. Cells were transfected with 500 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 as a positive control or 500 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. Five hours after transfections cells were induced with 10^{-8} M mifepristone or left uninduced. The Dual Luciferase Assay was carried out 24 hours after induction.

Significant HBV gene expression knockdown was achieved with all vector amounts of the pTZ-pri-miR cassette compared to pTZ57R/T (0.0004) (Figure 3.8). In addition, there was no significant difference in knockdown achieved when comparing the induced and uninduced cells (<math>p > 0.05). This observation indicates that there was no induction and suggests that GLp65 is necessary for induction. The GLp65 cassette did not result in knockdown in the presence or absence of mifepristone indicating that the pri-miR-expressing cassette is required for knockdown. However, knockdown observed with the pri-miR-expressing cassette in the absence of the GLp65 transactivator confirms that expression of the pri-miR mimics from the mifepristone inducible promoter is leaky. This leakiness appears to be as a result of the *E1B* promoter switching on gene expression in the absence of mifepristone.



Figure 3.8: Assessment of HBV gene expression knockdown by the pri-miR-31/5/8/9 cassette in the absence of the transactivator cassette.

Huh7 cells were transfected with 100 ng of psiCHECK-*HBx* and different amounts of pTZpri-miR or 500 ng of pTZ57R/T as a negative control, GLp65, or pRS17. Cells were transfected with 500 ng of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 as a positive control or 500 ng of pCI-neo to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9. Five hours after transfection cells were induced with 10^{-8} M mifepristone or ethanol for uninduced cells. The Dual Luciferase Assay was carried out 24 hours after induction. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3). *p< 0.01, t test, relative to the pTZ57R/T induced and uninduced cells. Despite the *in vitro* leakiness and marginal induction of anti-HBV pri-miR sequence expression from the mifepristone inducible system observed in this study, previous studies have shown lower basal expression and pronounced induction of expression using this system *in vivo* as compared to *in vitro* [Gonzalez-Aseguinolaza, G & Hernandez-Alcoceba, R (CIMA, Spain), personal communication]. We therefore continued to investigate the induction of gene expression by mifepristone in a mouse model.

We demonstrated that inducible expression of Firefly luciferase could be achieved with the mifepristone inducible system *in vitro* therefore we again used the luciferase-expressing construct as a starting point to assess the regulation of gene expression under the control of the inducible system *in vivo*. Briefly, mice were injected with the pRS-Luc construct and treated with varying concentrations of mifepristone. Mice received an intraperitoneal injection of mifepristone, 250 μ g/kg or 500 μ g/kg or oil only, in a total volume of 100 μ l prior to plasmid delivery. The mifepristone inducible system has been shown to be responsive to concentrations of mifepristone as low as 10 μ g/kg (188). However, 250 μ g/kg and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone have frequently been used to induce gene expression *in vivo* therefore these were the starting concentrations investigated (180, 189, 202). Up to 20 μ g of DNA has been previously administered when conducting *in vivo* studies with the pri-miRs expressed from a CMV promoter (78) therefore 20 μ g of DNA was administered per mouse in this study. Mice were injected with 20 μ g of pCI-FLuc and oil only as a positive control or with saline and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone as a negative control. The DNA was made up to a volume of 2.5 ml using normal saline and delivered to the mice

using the hydrodynamic injection. The luciferase substrate D-Luciferin was administered to the mice via intraperitoneal injection 5-10 minutes prior to imaging. The mice were anaesthetised with isofluorane and imaging carried out using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at different time points. Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software.

Sustained luminescence localised in the liver was observed in the mice that received the pRS-Luc construct at all time points (Figure 3.9A). However, there was no significant difference in the luminescence observed when comparing the induced and uninduced mice. In addition, no significant difference in luminescence was observed when comparing the mice that received 250 µg/kg and 500 µg/kg of mifepristone (Figure 3.9B). As previously observed with the pRS-31/5/8/9 construct *in vitro* (data not shown), high amounts of the vector result in high basal expression and masked induction. Therefore lower amounts of pRS-Luc were investigated in the subsequent experiment. Interestingly, pCI-FLuc which contains the *Firefly luciferase* gene under the control of the CMV promoter, resulted in high expression but was quickly cleared in comparison and luminescence could no longer be detected at the 168 hour time point.



81

В



Figure 3.9: Assessment of *Firefly luciferase* gene expression with the mifepristone inducible promoter *in vivo* using bioluminescence imaging.

(A) Images were captured using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at 5 seconds exposure. (B) Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software. Mice received an intraperitoneal injection of mifepristone, 250 μ g/kg or 500 μ g/kg, or oil only and 20 μ g of DNA was administered per mouse. Mice were injected with 20 μ g of pCI-FLuc and oil only as a positive control or with saline and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone as a negative control. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=3).

3. 6 Induction of *Firefly luciferase* gene expression with mifepristone *in vivo* at a lower vector amount

To assess induction of Firefly luciferase expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system with a lower amount of pRS-Luc, 5 μ g of pRS-Luc was used for injections. Briefly, mice received an intraperitoneal injection of mifepristone, 250 μ g/kg or 500 μ g/kg or oil only prior to plasmid delivery. Mice received 5 μ g of the pRS-Luc construct or 5 μ g of pCI-FLuc and oil only as a positive control or saline and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone as a negative control. Re-induction was carried out on day 6 and day 9 when bioluminescence had almost completely disappeared and basal expression was almost undetectable. Imaging was carried out using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at different time points. Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software.

Five hours after induction and injection, luminescence was observed in the mice that received the pRS-Luc construct (Figure 3.10A). However, similar luminescence was observed in the induced and uninduced mice indicating high basal expression of pRS-Luc. After 6 days the amount of luminescence had greatly decreased indicating reduced Firefly luciferase expression. Following re-induction on day 6, there was a significant increase in luminescence observed in the mice that received 250 μ g/kg of mifepristone compared to the mice that received oil only (p= 0.0053) (Figure 3.10B). By day 9 Firefly luciferase expression had again decreased and re-induction was carried out. Following re-induction, there was a significant increase in luminescence observed in the mice that received 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone compared to the mice that received oil only (p= 0.034) (Figure 3.10B). These data demonstrate that Firefly luciferase expression with the mifepristone inducible *in vivo*. There was a difference in the luminescence observed

when comparing mice that received 250 μ g/kg and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone, however, it was not statistically significant. This necessitates further studies to identify the optimum mifepristone concentration for induction *in vivo*.

A

Day 6 h

5 hours

Day 6 Induction 2

Day 9

Day 9 Induction 3


Time

Figure 3.10: Induction of Firefly luciferase gene expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible promoter in vivo.

(A) Images were captured using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at 5 seconds exposure. (B) Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software. Mice received intraperitoneal injections of mifepristone, 250 μ g/kg or 500 μ g/kg or oil only and 5 μ g of DNA was administered per mouse. Re-induction was carried out on day 6 and day 9. Mice were injected with 5 μ g of pCI-FLuc and oil only as a positive control or with saline and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone as a negative control. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=5). *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, t test, relative to the uninduced mice.

Chapter 3

3.7 Assessment of knockdown of HBV gene expression following induction of pri-miR expression with mifepristone *in vivo*

We demonstrated that HBV gene expression knockdown could be achieved with pri-miR-31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed from the mifepristone inducible system in vitro. However, the inducibility of the system was decreased with high amounts of the pri-miRs. To assess HBV knockdown following induction with mifepristone in vivo, the pri-miR-31/5/8/9-expressing construct was used. Briefly, mice received an intraperitoneal injection of mifepristone, 250 µg/kg, 500 µg/kg or 1 mg/kg or oil only, in a total volume of 100 µl prior to plasmid delivery. Subsequent inductions were carried out daily. Mice were injected with 5 µg of pRS-31/5/8/9 and 5 µg of the target plasmid, pCH Firefly Luc, in which the preS2/S ORF of pCH-9/3091 is substituted with the Firefly luciferase sequence. As controls, mice were injected with 5 µg of the empty vector pRS17 and 5 µg of pCH Firefly Luc then induced daily with 250 µg/kg, 500 µg/kg or 1 mg/kg of mifepristone or oil only. Mice were injected with 5 μ g of the target plasmid pCH Firefly Luc and either 5 μ g of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 and oil as a positive control, 5 µg of pCI-neo and oil to normalise for pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 or saline and 1 mg/kg of mifepristone as a negative control. The mice were anaesthetised with isofluorane and imaging carried out using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at 5 hours, day 3 and day 6. Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software.

Five hours after induction and injection, luminescence was observed in the mice that received the pRS-31/5/8/9 construct and pCH Firefly Luc (Figure 3.11A). On day 3, significant HBV expression knockdown had been achieved in the mice that received pRS-31/5/8/9 and 250 μ g/kg or 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone compared to the controls (p= 0.047)

and p= 0.012 respectively) (Figure 3.11B). On day 6, a significant decrease in luminescence was observed in the mice that received pRS-31/5/8/9 and 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone or oil only compared to the controls (p= 0.041 and p= 0.023 respectively) (Figure 3.11B). The reduction observed with mice that received oil only suggests that there was leaky expression of pRS-31/5/8/9. These data are similar to the *in vitro* observations which demonstrate that HBV gene expression knockdown is achieved with the pri-miRs under the control of the mifepristone inducible system but there is leaky expression. There was no significant difference in the luminescence observed when comparing mice that received 250 μ g/kg, 500 μ g/kg or 1 mg/kg of mifepristone. This necessitates further studies to identify the optimum mifepristone concentration for the induction of pri-miR expression *in* vivo. Although only 5 μ g of the pri-miR-31/5/8/9-expressing construct was used, further investigations would be necessary to determine whether lower amounts of the vector can be used to reduce leaky expression. However, we have previously observed that

2.5 µg of plasmid DNA is not effectively delivered to the liver using the hydrodynamic

injection method (data not shown).

A





Figure 3.11: HBV gene expression knockdown with pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed from the mifepristone inducible system *in vivo*.

(A) Images were captured using the Xenogen IVIS[®] imaging system at 10 seconds exposure. (B) Bioluminescence was quantified using the Living Image[®] software. Mice were injected with 5 µg of pRS-31/5/8/9 and 5 µg of the target plasmid, pCH Firefly Luc, and received daily intraperitoneal injections of mifepristone, 250 µg/kg, 500 µg/kg or 1 mg/kg or oil only. As controls, mice were injected with 5 µg of the empty vector pRS17 and 5 µg of pCH Firefly Luc then induced daily with 250 µg/kg, 500 µg/kg or 1 mg/kg of mifepristone or oil only (only images for 1 mg/kg induction shown). Mice were injected with 5 µg of the target plasmid pCH Firefly Luc and either 5 µg of pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 and oil as a positive control, 5 µg of pCI-neo and oil to normalise pCI-pri-miR-31/5/8/9 or saline and 1 mg/kg of mifepristone as a negative control. Error bars indicate the normalised standard deviation (n=5). *p< 0.05, t test, relative to the control mice.

CHAPTER 4

4 DISCUSSION

HBV is a major global health burden and chronic carriers are at high risk of developing hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and cirrhosis (1-3). Current treatment strategies are only partially effective, thus emphasising the need for improved treatment strategies. Exploiting the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway to silence HBV gene expression has shown promise as a therapeutic approach. However, there are obstacles that need to be overcome before RNAi-based treatment of HBV infection can advance to the clinic. These include problems of liver tissue targeting and dose regulation. RNA polymerase (Pol) III promoters are most commonly used to express RNAi activators. However, they are constitutively active and may cause saturation of the endogenous RNAi pathway and resultant toxicity (67). Pol II promoters are inducible and have the added benefit of compatibility with anti-HBV primiR shuttles (120). This study investigated the use of a liver specific and mifepristone inducible Pol II promoter system for the specific and precise regulation of anti-HBV sequence expression.

4.1 Gene expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system is regulatable and dose-dependent

The mifepristone inducible system has been used to achieve inducible and tissue specific gene expression and is therefore a valuable tool for gene therapy [reviewed in (173, 203)].

To assess gene regulation under the control of the mifepristone inducible system in our hands, the pRS-Luc construct, which expresses Firefly luciferase from a mifepristone inducible promoter, was used. A 10-30-fold induction of *Firefly luciferase* gene expression was observed with the two concentrations of mifepristone (10⁻⁸ M and 10⁻⁶ M) investigated when 100-500 ng of the vector was used. The lower induction (10-fold) observed at higher vector amounts (500 ng) is as a result of higher basal expression. This effect of basal expression on induction has previously been demonstrated by Abruzzese and colleagues. The authors observed a modest induction (10-fold) of secreted human placental alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) expression as a result of high basal expression with the mifepristone inducible system (183). Our observations are also similar to previous data in which a 10-20-fold induction of Firefly luciferase expression is observed in Huh7 cells [Hernandez-Alcoceba, R (CIMA, Spain), personal communication]. This confirms that gene expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system is inducible and that the system was functioning as intended in our hands.

However, variations in the levels of gene expression and induction have been observed with the mifepristone inducible system *in vitro*. This variation seems to be dependent on factors such as the particular gene being expressed, the cell lines being used and the concentration of the inducer. As previously mentioned, the vector amounts transfected and the resulting basal expression also have an influence on induction (183). This variation was particularly well demonstrated in a study by Abruzzese and colleagues. In this study, the African green monkey kidney fibroblast-like COS-1 cell line was transfected with a plasmid containing the GLp65 transactivator under the control of a CMV promoter and inducible plasmids encoding different genes. Upon induction with 10⁻⁸ M mifepristone, a

10-fold increase in SEAP activity was observed. In contrast, the authors observed a 33-fold induction in vascular endothelial growth factor (hVEGF) protein levels and a 16-fold increase in murine erythropoietin (mEpo) protein levels (183). This highlights the versatility of this system but also the importance of optimising the system for each application.

Therefore, in this study, attempts were made to optimise induction conditions by investigating dose dependence with the mifepristone inducible system in vitro. Huh7 cells were transfected with pRS-Luc and induced with different concentrations of mifepristone. The greatest induction was achieved with 10^{-9} M mifepristone while the reduced induction observed with the highest mifepristone concentrations investigated (10^{-5} M and 10^{-6} M) was possibly as a result of a toxic effect of mifepristone on the cells at these concentrations. Further studies are necessary to fully investigate the latter observation. Our observations are in accordance with several previous studies. A study in which the system was incorporated into a lentiviral vector resulted in the maximal activation of DsRed2 red fluorescent protein marker expression with 10⁻⁹ M and 10⁻⁸ M mifepristone. The authors also demonstrated the optimal expression of human α_1 -antitrypsin (hAAT) after induction with 10^{-8} M mifepristone (186). Another study in which human interleukin-12 (hIL-12) was expressed in liver-derived cells showed a dose-dependent increase in expression from 10^{-10} M to 10^{-7} M mifepristone (202). Based on our observations and those of others we can conclude that gene expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system in vitro is dependent on the concentration of the inducer, mifepristone. Despite the aforementioned evidence of variation in expression with the mifepristone inducible system, the data obtained with the luciferase-expressing construct in vitro were valuable as they

provided a starting point for the expression of the pri-miRs from the inducible system *in vitro*.

To assess the *in vivo* functionality of the inducible system, the expression of Firefly luciferase from pRS-Luc was investigated in a mouse model. Firefly luciferase expression was successfully demonstrated in vivo, however, with a high vector amount of pRS-Luc (20 µg), induction was masked as a result of high basal expression. In addition, for the initial experiments, induction was only carried out once, which is not ideal. In humans, after a single oral administration, mifepristone concentration in the serum reaches its peak in about 2 hours and has a half-life of 20-30 hours (205-207). Therefore multiple inductions with mifepristone would be required to ensure sustained expression of the transgene. In our case, the combination of high basal expression and a single induction explain the similar luminescence observed in the induced and uninduced mice. In addition, the hydrodynamic injection itself has been proven to be hepatotoxic (45) therefore it might be beneficial to allow some time for the animals to recover to exclude any effects of liver damage on gene expression. Interestingly, the construct which contains the Firefly *luciferase* gene under the control of the CMV promoter resulted in high expression but was rapidly cleared from the liver. Expression under the control of the CMV promoter has been shown to be variable and susceptible to silencing in certain tissues (208-210), specifically in hepatocytes (211), which may explain our observations.

In the subsequent study, the vector amount administered to the mice was decreased from $20 \ \mu g$ to $5 \ \mu g$. In addition, re-induction was carried out only when basal expression was no longer detectable and therefore negligible to prevent masking of induction. As expected,

Chapter 4

reducing the vector amount administered to the mice as well as inducing in the presence of minimal basal expression significantly improved the inducibility of the system *in vivo*. This was demonstrated by the 50 to 100-fold induction observed upon re-induction with 250 μ g/kg or 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone. This was again in agreement with previous studies in which improved induction is achieved with the inducible system *in vivo* compared to *in vitro* [Gonzalez-Aseguinolaza, G & Hernandez-Alcoceba, R (CIMA, Spain), personal communication]. A difference was observed in the induction by 250 μ g/kg compared to 500 μ g/kg of mifepristone, however, this difference was not statistically significant. This indicates that further studies need to be carried out to determine the optimum mifepristone concentration for the induction of Firefly luciferase expression. Nonetheless, these data confirm that inducible gene expression with the mifepristone inducible system can be achieved *in vivo*.

As is the case with the *in vitro* expression of a transgene, gene expression under the control of the inducible system *in vivo* has also been demonstrated to be variable. In this case, the determinants of variation seem to be more complex than *in vitro* and include factors such as the particular gene being expressed as well as vector amounts, the site of expression, the method of delivery and the concentration of the inducer. A study by Burcin and colleagues incorporated the inducible system into an adenoviral vector and delivered the construct to mice by tail vein injection. Mice received intraperitoneal (i.p) injections of 250 μ g/kg of mifepristone and a 50 000-fold induction of human growth human (hGH) serum levels was detected (180). In another study, a plasmid containing the transactivator and an inducible reporter plasmid expressing SEAP were delivered to the hind-limb muscles of mice by direct injection followed by electroporation. The mice received a single i.p dose of mifepristone (0.33 mg/kg) resulting in a 14-fold induction of SEAP serum levels. The

authors also demonstrated mifepristone dose dependence by assessing the responsiveness of the system with a range of mifepristone concentrations from 0 to 1 mg/kg. A 0.01 mg/kg dose was sufficient to elicit a partial response while a maximal response was observed with 0.33 mg/kg of mifepristone (188). A third study by Wang and colleagues demonstrated both vector and inducer dose dependence. The inducible system expressing hIL-12 was incorporated into a gutless adenoviral vector and delivered to the mice at two different concentrations $[1 \times 10^9 \text{ or } 3 \times 10^9 \text{ infectious units (iu)}]$ by tail vein injection. Mifepristone was then administered at three different concentrations (125, 250 or 500 µg/kg) via i.p injection. hIL-12 serum levels were highest when the highest vector (3 × 10⁹ iu) and mifepristone concentrations (500 µg/kg) were combined (189). This is in contradiction with our observations in which high vector amounts result in reduced induction. However, it is difficult to make a comparison of results as the methods of delivery in the two studies were different. The authors used an adenoviral vector for delivery whereas we administered plasmid DNA to the mice in our study. This, in addition to the other aforementioned factors, may have contributed to the differences observed.

Gene expression under the control of an inducible system *in vivo* is further complicated by considerations such as the duration of inducibility and the effect of repeated inductions, particularly in a therapeutic context. Loss of inducibility has typically been found to be as a result of the loss of plasmid. (188). However, a study by Abruzzese and colleagues in which SEAP was expressed from the inducible system demonstrated that antibodies were generated against the foreign protein, SEAP. They went on to show that the inducible system (188). The effect of chronic administration of mifepristone *in vivo* has also been investigated by several groups. An example is the study by Wang and colleagues in which

the inducible system expressing hIL-12 was incorporated into a gutless adenoviral vector and induction was carried out every 12, 24 or 48 hours. They observed that induction every 48 hours resulted in a saw-like pattern of expression whereas more sustained expression was observed with induction every 12 or 24 hours (189). Evidently the half-life of the transgene product itself is an important consideration and will likely dictate the schedule of induction. The pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the inducer, which have been established for mifepristone (165, 167), will also influence induction. This evidence indicates that there are complex interactions which must be elucidated and many factors to consider when this system is used *in vivo*. Therefore, similar to the observations *in vitro* and taken together with observations from previous studies, these data demonstrate that optimisation of induction conditions must also be carried out for each application of this system *in vivo*.

4.2 Effective HBV gene expression knockdown can be achieved with pri-miRs expressed from the mifepristone inducible system

The pri-miR mimics used in this study have been found to result in significant HBV gene expression knockdown *in vitro* and *in vivo* when expressed from a CMV promoter (57, 78). The mifepristone inducible system was used to regulate the expression of the pri-miRs and achieve liver-specific expression, thus targeting the primary site of HBV infection. The ability to achieve inducible expression of RNAi effectors will address the toxicity concerns associated with RNAi-based therapeutics and will contribute to the advancement of RNAi to the clinic.

Assessment of HBsAg secretion, a marker of HBV gene expression, using ELISA was the first approach used to determine the efficacy of the pri-miRs under the control of the inducible system *in vitro*. Both the mono- and polycistronic anti-HBV pri-miR-31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequences expressed from the inducible system resulted in significant reduction of HBsAg. However, similar reduction observed with induced and uninduced cells with both constructs suggests that pri-miR expression from the mifepristone inducible system is leaky *in vitro*. In addition, the high vector amounts investigated appeared to mask induction, particularly with the pri-miR-31/5/8/9-expressing construct (pRS-31/5/8/9). Similar to the luciferase-expressing construct, we have observed that high vector amounts of pRS-31/5/8/9 result in high basal expression (data not shown).

Therefore, attempts were made to optimise the amount of vector added such that induction of gene expression can be achieved with minimal basal expression. We established the vector amounts of pRS-31-5/8/9 at which there is negligible basal expression (10-30 ng) as observed by no significant reduction in HBsAg. However, upon induction there was no significant induction observed. These optimisation studies revealed that for the expression of pri-miRs from the inducible system some basal expression in the absence of the inducer must be tolerated. However, ideally, basal expression and induction must be at acceptable levels such that tight regulation of gene expression can still be achieved. The requirement for this balance was illustrated in a study by Abruzzese and colleagues in which the inducible system was transformed into an auto inducible system such that induction with mifepristone results in the activation of the transgene as well as the regulator itself. Although this increased the "tightness" of the system, i.e. reduced basal expression of the transgene, this came at the expense of reducing the level of induced transgene expression. A 10-fold reduction in basal expression was accompanied by a 2-fold reduction in induction (183).

To corroborate the data obtained with ELISA, the Dual Luciferase assay was used to assess HBV gene expression knockdown with the pri-miRs expressed from the mifepristone inducible system. The starting vector amounts taken from the *in vitro* studies with the luciferase-expressing construct were too high when it came to the expression of the primiRs from the inducible system as demonstrated by the high basal expression and masked induction. This is not surprising given the variable expression that has been observed with the inducible system. Therefore, lower vector amounts (25-100 ng) were investigated to minimise basal expression. However, there was no significant HBV gene expression knockdown with the pri-miR-31/5-expressing construct (pRS-31/5) with the lower vector amounts investigated. It appears that attempting to reduce the basal expression came at the expense of reducing knockdown efficacy. Nonetheless, induction in the form of knockdown was observed with 10^{-8} M and 10^{-5} M mifepristone when comparing the induced cells to the uninduced cells. The knockdown was marginal, reaching a maximum of about 30%. In contrast to pRS-31/5, pRS-31/5/8/9 resulted in significant HBV gene expression knockdown with all vector amounts investigated with and without induction. In addition, induction in the form of knockdown was observed with all three concentrations of mifepristone investigated suggesting more variation compared to the pri-miR-31/5expressing construct. The knockdown observed was lower than with pRS-31/5, reaching a maximum of about 20%. However, similar knockdown was again observed with induced and uninduced cells confirming the leaky expression of anti-HBV pri-miR sequences from the inducible system.

100

Interestingly, overall, we observed more potent silencing with pRS-31/5/8/9 than with pRS-31/5. This may be as a result of its polycistronic nature which allows for the silencing of more than one target simultaneously. Previous studies have shown that the efficacy and processing of the three pri-miRs is not equal owing to their specific sequences and position within the polycistron. In addition, *in vivo*, the difference in silencing achieved with pri-miR-31/5/8/9 compared to pri-miR-31/5 is marginal (78). Nonetheless, the presence of three silencing RNAi miRs versus one may still have contributed to increased efficacy, particularly in the context of this specific expression system. However, it appears that the more potent silencing by pRS-31/5/8/9 came at the expense of reducing the inducibility of gene expression.

Despite the marginal induction and leakiness, as previously observed in this study with the luciferase-expressing construct, this system exhibits improved inducibility *in vivo*. Therefore, we went on to assess HBV gene expression knockdown with pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed from the mifepristone inducible system in a mouse model. Each mouse received 5 μ g of the target plasmid pCH Firefly Luc, in which the *preS2/S* ORF of pCH-9/3091 is substituted with the *Firefly luciferase* gene, and 5 μ g of pRS-31/5/8/9. Induction was carried out daily to ensure sustained expression of the pri-miR. HBV gene expression knockdown (observed as decreased bioluminescence) up to two orders of magnitude was observed by pRS-31/5/8/9 compared to the controls. However, similar knockdown was observed with both induced and uninduced mice. This is in agreement with the observations *in vitro* and demonstrates that HBV gene expression knockdown is achieved with the pri-miRs under the control of the mifepristone inducible system *in vivo* but there is leaky expression. It might be useful to reduce the amount of plasmid administered to the

mice to reduce leaky expression. Although only the administration of 5 μ g per mouse was reported in this study, we have also observed that 2.5 μ g of plasmid is not effectively delivered to the liver using the hydrodynamic injection. From these observations it is evident that understanding the mechanism of leaky expression is important and will be beneficial in optimising the system both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

4.3 The mechanism of leaky expression of anti-HBV pri-miRs under the control of the mifepristone inducible system

The observations from knockdown studies with both pRS-31/5 and pRS-31/5/8/9 strongly suggest that there is leaky expression of the pri-miRs from the inducible system. The modifications made to this system from the first generation derivatives to the version currently used have generally resulted in lower basal expression, and therefore better inducibility of gene expression, and responsiveness to lower concentrations of mifepristone (178, 180). In this system, the GLp65 transactivator protein is constitutively expressed but remains inactive in the absence of mifepristone. Binding of mifepristone to the ligand-binding domain of GLp65 results in dimerisation of GLp65 and translocation to the nucleus. In the nucleus, the GAL4 DNA-binding domain interacts with the GAL4 UAS in the promoter of the target gene. This results in the p65 transactivation domain being in close enough proximity to activate target gene expression (173). Therefore in the event of leaky expression such as we have observed, this may either be as a result of the GLp65 dimerising in the absence of mifepristone and activating the *E1B* promoter driving the expression of the pri-miRs or the activity of the *E1B* promoter in the absence of mifepristone.

To investigate these possibilities, knockdown studies were conducted with the two separated constituent cassettes of the mifepristone inducible system. Significant HBV gene expression knockdown was observed with the pri-miR-31/5/8/9-expressing cassette separated from the transactivator. This observation confirms that expression of the pri-miR mimics from the mifepristone inducible promoter is leaky. This leakiness appears to be as a result of the *E1B* promoter switching on gene expression in the absence of mifepristone. Furthermore, upon addition of mifepristone there was no induction observed indicating the role of GLp65 for this function. The GLp65 transactivator alone did not result in knockdown of HBV gene expression indicating the role of the pri-miR-31/5/8/9-expressing cassette for this function.

Several studies have previously demonstrated the expression of RNAi activators from inducible systems. Most commonly, tetracycline-responsive derivatives of Pol III promoters have been used. The design strategy usually involves introducing tetracycline operator (*tet*O) sequences between the TATA box and transcription start site of the promoter (212). Several groups have developed inducible siRNA and shRNA expression systems based on the tetracycline repressor and the U6 Pol III promoter (212-214). Variants using the H1 Pol III promoter have also been designed (215, 216). Yu and McMahon subsequently demonstrated that a U6 promoter with stuffer sequences flanked by LoxP sites inserted at three different sites within the promoter was able to drive shRNA expression in a Cre-recombinase-dependent manner (217). U6 and H1 promoters have also been used in conjunction with the ecdysone (218) and bacterial *lac* (219) repressors respectively for the inducible expression of RNAi activators. A few groups have also used the tetracycline inducible system to generate conditional RNAi cell lines for miR-mediated

gene inactivation (220, 221). The use of the tetracycline system has also been investigated for the expression of pri-miR and miR-based shRNAs (66, 222).

To our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate pri-miR expression under the control of the mifepristone inducible system. Therefore our observations are not particularly surprising given the variable gene expression and induction that have already been demonstrated with this system. A study by Sirin and Park demonstrated impaired induction of hAAT expression compared to red and green fluorescent protein markers by the inducible system incorporated in a lentiviral vector. They suggested that there may be transgene-specific effects in the inducibility of this system when comparing the expression of secreted and intracellular proteins (186). In particular, improved inducibility of the system *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* has been observed with hIL-12, a secreted protein, compared to intracellular proteins such a Firefly luciferase with which there is also high basal expression [Hernandez-Alcoceba, R (CIMA, Spain), personal communication]. If this is the case, this may explain our observations with the pri-miRs and their expression in this novel context. Therefore the impaired expression and induction with the pri-miRs may, in fact, be attributed to the inherent nature of the inducible system and its constituent elements.

Similar to our approach in this study, Abruzzese and colleagues used separate plasmids containing the transactivator (GLp65) or transgene to further investigate the induction potential of the inducible system *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In particular, they sought to investigate the effects of the possible accumulation of GLp65 owing to expression under the control of the strong CMV promoter. They found that when they kept the amount of

transgene plasmid constant and increased the amounts of the CMV-driven transactivator plasmid, they observed increasing levels of basal expression. They proposed that GLp65 may be able to bind to GAL4 sites and partially activate transcription in the absence of the inducer, and that this ability is greater when higher levels of GLp65 are produced. However, they also pointed out that the effect on the magnitude of induction was not significant (188). Similarly, we have also investigated the expression and induction of pRS-31/5/8/9 in the non-liver HEK293 cell line derived from human embryonic kidney cells in an attempt to reduce the activity of the TTR liver-specific promoter and therefore the accumulation of GLp65. In this way we hoped to reduce leakiness from the inducible system. However, this did not significantly improve induction (data not shown).

In a second study, Abruzzese and colleagues investigated the activity of two inducible promoters; one consisted of six copies of the GAL4 DNA binding sites linked to a TATA box and the other consisted of four copies of the GAL4 DNA binding sites linked to a minimal thymine kinase gene (*tk*) promoter. They found that both promoters exhibited activity in the absence of GLp65 and mifepristone. They went on to propose that if it is assumed that the GAL4 sites are silent in the absence of the transactivator, then the core elements of the inducible promoter contribute a substantial level of expression. Therefore modifying the core elements of the inducible promoter may result in reduced basal expression (183, 188). Based on our observations and those of others it appears that both the *E1B* promoter which drives the expression of the transgene as well as the transactivator contribute to the leakiness observed. However, it is evident that the mechanism of gene expression and induction under the control of the mifepristone inducible system is complex and the exact function of both the inducible promoter and the transactivator under different circumstances needs to be further elucidated.

Chapter 4

4.4 Potential improvements to the mifepristone inducible system

While optimisation studies have proven valuable in the use of the mifepristone inducible system, it is also worth considering modifications to the system itself and its constituent elements to improve the suitability of the system for a specific application. With regards to this study, substituting the pri-miR expressed from the inducible system may improve its performance. We have observed that the more potent pri-miR-31/5/8/9 expressed from the inducible system results in effective HBV gene expression knockdown but impaired induction. However, the ability to achieve knockdown with lower vector amounts is an advantage particularly in a therapeutic context. In contrast, pri-miR-31/5 exhibits less potent silencing but better inducibility. However, higher vector amounts are required to achieve significant HBV gene expression knockdown which may lead to toxicity (67). Therefore it may be useful to screen the performance of different pri-miRs incorporated into the inducible system. An ideal pri-miR could possibly exhibit moderate HBV gene expression silencing compared to pri-miR-31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9 and adequate levels of induction, for example.

Promoter choice is another important consideration that may affect the performance of an inducible system. Wang *et al.* (174) as well as Burcin *et al.* (180) investigated promoter dependence on the performance of the first and second generation mifepristone inducible systems respectively. Both groups found that optimal mifepristone-dependent transgene regulation was achieved when the target gene was under the control of a TATA promoter compared to a *tk* promoter. Therefore, the TATA promoter can be used where low basal activity is preferred whereas the *tk* promoter can be used where overall higher expression is

required and higher basal activity can be tolerated (174). Expressing the transactivator under the control of a weaker promoter, such as the liver-specific transthyretin promoter, instead of the more active CMV promoter has also been proposed as a method to reduce basal expression (188).

Various modifications have also been carried out on the CMV promoter itself creating improved tet-responsive promoters with reduced background expression (223). The use of an autoinducible promoter which results in the activation of the transgene as well as the regulator itself when mifepristone is added has also been investigated with the mifepristone inducible system. This induces the synthesis of more of the regulator and results in lower basal activity and thus tighter regulation of gene expression (183). Other modifications which have been proposed to improve performance and reduce leakiness include the use of insulators to shield the regulated promoter from interference by neighbouring chromatin and the site-specific integration of conditionally controlled transgenes into certified loci (198). While some of the aforementioned modifications have already been incorporated into the current version of the mifepristone inducible system, this evidence demonstrates the vast potential for modifications to the system and the benefits they may yield.

Despite the shortcomings observed in this study, the mifepristone inducible system performs well in direct comparison to the other widely used inducible systems and has no prominent drawbacks (224). The limitations associated with the tetracycline inducible system include the toxicity of the tetracyclines themselves (158) and toxicity of the tTA transactivator protein (157). Whereas rapamycin, the inducer in the rapamycin inducible system, has immunosuppressive effects (157) and the insect-derived proteins expressed in

the ecdysone system may be immunogenic (159). The constituent components of the mifepristone inducible system and its inducer have also been found to be less toxic in comparison with other commonly used systems and inducers (158, 181). Future studies with this system are warranted and may lead to a greater understanding of the mechanism of gene expression and induction and thus improve its performance in a wide range of applications.

4.5 Future studies

In this study, we used HBV gene expression knockdown as a means of determining the expression of the pri-miRs under the control of the inducible system, however, this is not ideal. Several studies involving DNA microarray analysis have demonstrated that phenotype, in this case HBV knockdown by the pri-miRs, does not necessarily correlate with genotype, especially in human disease (225, 226). For example, Miklos and Maleszka found that genes whose expression changes are deemed to be of importance in microarrays are rarely those classified as of importance from clinical, *in situ*, molecular single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) association, knockout and drug perturbation data. They thus highlighted the inconsistencies that can exist between microarray data and genome-wide phenotypic data (227).

With reference to this study, it is possible that induction of gene expression occurred at the level of transcription but did not necessarily translate to visible induction at the level of HBV gene expression knockdown. Therefore the accurate way of measuring pri-miR gene

expression would be to determine the abundance of mRNA transcripts under specified conditions. The first strategy commonly used, RT-PCR, was used by Abruzzese and colleagues to assess gene expression under the control of their derivative of the mifepristone inducible system which contains an autoinducible promoter. The authors used qRT-PCR to enable quantification of the mRNA copy numbers of the transctivator and target genes in the presence and absence of mifepristone (183). The design of a PCR assay for miRs proved challenging for several years, particularly because the miR precursor consists of a stable hairpin and because of the small size of the mature miR, roughly the size of a standard PCR primer (228). The development of techniques such as stem-loop RT-PCR has since enabled accurate and sensitive miR expression profiling (229). In addition, RT-PCR requires small amounts of starting material and this can prove to be advantageous. The limitations associated with this technique include high cost and the requirement for very sophisticated primer design and special expertise. Microarray analysis of miR accumulation has also been used and allows for high throughput but requires special tools and expertise (230).

Another widespread strategy used to assess the accumulation of target miRs is polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of RNA samples combined with northern blot analysis. This technique allows for the quantification of the expression level of miRs as well as determination of the size of RNA (230). A potential limitation of northern blotting that we observed in this study is the high amounts of DNA that must be transfected to then be able to detect the expressed and processed pri-miRs. We found that the optimised amount of plasmid that is required to reduce basal expression from the inducible system is too low to be detected with northern blotting (data not shown). Therefore in future studies we will use RT-PCR to quantify miR abundance and thus gene expression and induction under the control of the inducible system. We also intend to shed light on the contribution of GLp65 on gene expression and determine whether further optimisation of pri-miR expression and induction with the mifepristone inducible system is possible.

CHAPTER 5

5 CONCLUSION

In this study, the expression of anti-HBV primary micro-RNA (pri-miR) mimics under the control of a liver-specific and inducible RNA polymerase (Pol) II promoter system is demonstrated. This is the first study to incorporate RNAi activators into the mifepristone inducible system.

The mono- and polycistronic pri-miR sequences used in this study have previously been demonstrated to effectively silence HBV gene expression *in vitro* and *in vivo* when expressed from a CMV promoter. Nonetheless, the difficulty of achieving dose regulation and liver tissue targeting remains an obstacle preventing this therapy from advancing to the clinic. Typically, RNAi activators are expressed from Pol III promoters; however, they are constitutively active and as such may lead to toxicity as a result of the saturation of the endogenous RNAi machinery. Pol II promoters are more easily regulated and have therefore been favoured for the expression of therapeutic RNAi sequences. In addition, it is important to ensure that expression of RNAi sequences is confined to the tissues and organs of interest to avoid off-target effects brought about by non-specific binding.

In this study, liver-specific expression of the pri-miRs and the *Firefly luciferase* gene was demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Firefly luciferase expression was shown to be inducible and mifepristone dose-dependent in agreement with previous studies. Both the pri-miR-

31/5 and pri-miR-31/5/8/9 sequences expressed from the mifepristone inducible system resulted in effective HBV gene expression knockdown *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In addition, induction *in vitro* was demonstrated to be dependent on the concentration of mifepristone. Although leaky expression of the pri-miRs was observed from the inducible system, reducing the vector amounts decreased basal expression and improved the inducibility of the system in cell culture studies. The mechanism of leaky expression was investigated and found to be as a result of the *E1B* inducible promoter driving pri-miR expression in the absence of mifepristone. Future studies are necessary to investigate the contribution of the GLp65 transactivator towards leaky expression.

The leaky expression of the pri-miRs from the inducible system and evidence from previous studies highlight the variation in expression with the inducible system and necessitates careful optimisation of vector amounts and mifepristone concentrations for effective transgene expression. However, this variation seems to be as a result of the intrinsic nature of the system and its constituent elements. A balance between basal expression and induction must therefore be achieved to optimise the performance of the system as demonstrated in this study. Nevertheless, the mechanism of leaky expression must be further elucidated to improve the performance of the system and expand its use in different applications.

This study demonstrates the exciting potential for the regulated and tissue-specific expression of therapeutic RNAi activators. In this way, our findings may contribute to the development of safe and clinically feasible RNAi-based antiviral treatment strategies.

APPENDIX

6 APPENDIX

6.1 Bacterial methods

6.1.1 Luria Bertani medium

Ten grams of bactotryptone, 5 g of yeast extract and 5 g of NaCl were dissolved in 1 litre of deionised water. The medium was autoclaved for 20 minutes at 121° C and 1 kg/cm².

6.1.2 Ampicillin stock solution (100 mg/ml)

One gram of ampicillin was added to 5 ml of deionised water and 5 ml of absolute ethanol added. The solution was filter sterilised and stored at -20°C.

6.1.3 Luria Bertani agar plates

Ten grams of bacteriological agar, 10 g of bactotryptone, 5 g of yeast extract and 5 g of NaCl were dissolved in 1 litre of deionised water. The solution was autoclaved for 20 minutes at 121° C and 1 kg/cm². Ampicillin was added to a final concentration of 100 µg/ml. The agar was poured into petri dishes and allowed to solidify at room temperature.

6.1.4 Transformation buffer

One hundred millimolar CaCl₂ and 10 mM PIPES-HCl were added to 15 ml of glycerol.

Appendix

Deionised water was added to make up the volume to 80 ml. The pH was adjusted to 7.0 with NaOH and deionised water added to make up the final volume of 100 ml. The solution was autoclaved for 20 minutes at 121°C and 1 kg/cm² then stored at -20°C.

6.1.5 DNA isolation solutions

Resuspension buffer (Buffer P1)

Tris base (tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane) (6.06 g) was added to 3.72 g of Na₂EDTA.₂H2O and deionised water used to make the volume up to 800 ml. The pH was adjusted to 8.0 using HCl then the volume made up to 1 litre with deionised water. The solution was autoclaved for 20 minutes at 121° C and 1 kg/cm² then allowed to cool and RNAse A (100 mg) added. The buffer was mixed thoroughly and stored at 4°C.

Lysis buffer (Buffer P2)

Eight grams of NaOH pellets were added to 500 ml of deionised water. Ten grams of SDS was added and the volume made up to 1 litre with deionised water. The buffer was stored at room temperature.

Neutralisation buffer (Buffer P3)

Potassium acetate (294.5 g) was added to 500 ml of deionised water. The pH was adjusted to 5.5 using acetic acid then the volume made up to 1 litre with deionised water. The buffer was stored at 4°C.

6.1.6 0.5M EDTA

To make 1 litre, 146.12 g of EDTA was added to 800 ml of deionised water. The pH was adjusted to 7.5 with NaOH pellets then to 8 with 10M NaOH. The volume made up to 1 litre with deionised water.

$6.1.750 \times TAE$ (Tris-acetate-EDTA) buffer

Tris base (242g) was added to 57.1 ml of glacial acetic acid then 100 ml of 0.5M EDTA (pH 8) was added. The volume was made up to 1 litre with deionised water. One litre of $1 \times$ TAE buffer was made by adding 20 ml of 50 × TAE buffer to 980 ml of deionised water.

6.1.8 X-Gal (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-d-galactopyranoside)

Twenty milligrams of X-gal was dissolved in 1 ml of dimethyl formamide. The tube was covered in foil and the solution stored at -20°C.

6.1.9 IPTG (isopropyl-beta-D-thiogalactopyranoside)

One hundred milligrams was dissolved in 1 ml of deionised water. The solution was filter sterilised and stored at -20°C.

6.2 Cell culture studies

6.2.1 DMEM cell culture medium (DMEM)

DMEM was made according to the manufacturer's instructions (Life Technologies, CA, USA).

6.2.2 0.5× Trypsin

Trypsin (1×) (Life Technologies, CA, USA) was diluted 2 fold with saline containing 0.01% EDTA. The mixture was filter sterilised and stored at 4° C.

6.2.3 Mifepristone for cell culture studies

A 20 mM stock solution was prepared by dissolving 80 mg of mifepristone in 9.3 ml of 100% ethanol. The stock solution was stored at -20°C. Working solutions were prepared by dissolving the stock solution in ethanol.

6.3 Mouse studies

6.3.1 Mifepristone for in vivo studies

A stock solution of mifepristone was prepared by dissolving 4.5 mg of mifepristone in 18 ml of sesame oil (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA). The solution was left shaking overnight, in the dark at 4°C. Working solutions of mifepristone were prepared by diluting the stock solution in sesame oil.

REFERENCES

World Health Organization. Hepatitis B vaccines. Weekly epidemiological record. .
 2009 Contract No.: 84.

2. Arbuthnot P, Kew M. Hepatitis B virus and hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Exp Pathol. 2001;82(2):77-100.

3. McMahon BJ. The natural history of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology. 2009;49(5 Suppl):S45-55.

4. El-Serag HB, Rudolph KL. Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and molecular carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology. 2007;132(7):2557-76.

5. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2011;61(2):69-90.

Maddrey WC. Hepatitis B: an important public health issue. J Med Virol.
 2000;61(3):362-6.

7. Dienstag JL. Hepatitis B virus infection. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(14):1486-500.

8. Shepard CW, Simard EP, Finelli L, Fiore AE, Bell BP. Hepatitis B virus infection: epidemiology and vaccination. Epidemiol Rev. 2006;28:112-25.

9. Shamliyan TA, MacDonald R, Shaukat A, Taylor BC, Yuan JM, Johnson JR, et al. Antiviral therapy for adults with chronic hepatitis B: a systematic review for a National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference. Ann Intern Med. 2009;150(2):111-24.

10. Ayoub WS, Keeffe EB. Review article: current antiviral therapy of chronic hepatitis B. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2011;34(10):1145-58.

References

11. Lampertico P, Vigano M, Manenti E, Iavarone M, Lunghi G, Colombo M. Adefovir rapidly suppresses hepatitis B in HBeAg-negative patients developing genotypic resistance to lamivudine. Hepatology. 2005;42(6):1414-9.

Terrault NA. Benefits and risks of combination therapy for hepatitis B. Hepatology.
 2009;49(5 Suppl):S122-8.

13. Ganem D, Prince AM. Hepatitis B virus infection--natural history and clinical consequences. N Engl J Med. 2004;350(11):1118-29.

14. Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature. 1998;391(6669):806-11.

15. Zamore PD, Tuschl T, Sharp PA, Bartel DP. RNAi: double-stranded RNA directs the ATP-dependent cleavage of mRNA at 21 to 23 nucleotide intervals. Cell. 2000;101(1):25-33.

16. Elbashir SM, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T. RNA interference is mediated by 21- and 22nucleotide RNAs. Genes Dev. 2001;15(2):188-200.

17. Arbuthnot P, Thompson LJ. Harnessing the RNA interference pathway to advance treatment and prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14(11):1670-81.

18. Denli AM, Tops BB, Plasterk RH, Ketting RF, Hannon GJ. Processing of primary microRNAs by the Microprocessor complex. Nature. 2004;432(7014):231-5.

19. Han J, Lee Y, Yeom KH, Kim YK, Jin H, Kim VN. The Drosha-DGCR8 complex in primary microRNA processing. Genes Dev. 2004;18(24):3016-27.

20. Bernstein E, Caudy AA, Hammond SM, Hannon GJ. Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature. 2001;409(6818):363-6.

21. Hutvagner G, McLachlan J, Pasquinelli AE, Balint E, Tuschl T, Zamore PD. A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the let-7 small temporal RNA. Science. 2001;293(5531):834-8.

22. Provost P, Dishart D, Doucet J, Frendewey D, Samuelsson B, Radmark O. Ribonuclease activity and RNA binding of recombinant human Dicer. EMBO J. 2002;21(21):5864-74.

23. Zhang H, Kolb FA, Brondani V, Billy E, Filipowicz W. Human Dicer preferentially cleaves dsRNAs at their termini without a requirement for ATP. EMBO J. 2002;21(21):5875-85.

24. Yi R, Qin Y, Macara IG, Cullen BR. Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of premicroRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev. 2003;17(24):3011-6.

25. Lund E, Guttinger S, Calado A, Dahlberg JE, Kutay U. Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. Science. 2004;303(5654):95-8.

26. Hammond SM, Bernstein E, Beach D, Hannon GJ. An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in Drosophila cells. Nature. 2000;404(6775):293-6.

27. Matranga C, Tomari Y, Shin C, Bartel DP, Zamore PD. Passenger-strand cleavage facilitates assembly of siRNA into Ago2-containing RNAi enzyme complexes. Cell. 2005;123(4):607-20.

28. Rand TA, Petersen S, Du F, Wang X. Argonaute2 cleaves the anti-guide strand of siRNA during RISC activation. Cell. 2005;123(4):621-9.

29. Diederichs S, Haber DA. Dual role for argonautes in microRNA processing and posttranscriptional regulation of microRNA expression. Cell. 2007;131(6):1097-108.

30. MacRae IJ, Ma E, Zhou M, Robinson CV, Doudna JA. In vitro reconstitution of the human RISC-loading complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(2):512-7.

31. Zeng Y, Cullen BR. Sequence requirements for micro RNA processing and function in human cells. RNA. 2003;9(1):112-23.

32. Liu J, Carmell MA, Rivas FV, Marsden CG, Thomson JM, Song JJ, et al.
Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science. 2004;305(5689):143741.

33. Yekta S, Shih IH, Bartel DP. MicroRNA-directed cleavage of HOXB8 mRNA. Science. 2004;304(5670):594-6.

34. Brennecke J, Stark A, Russell RB, Cohen SM. Principles of microRNA-target recognition. PLoS Biol. 2005;3(3):e85.

35. Summers J, Mason WS. Replication of the genome of a hepatitis B--like virus by reverse transcription of an RNA intermediate. Cell. 1982;29(2):403-15.

36. Weiser B, Ganem D, Seeger C, Varmus HE. Closed circular viral DNA and asymmetrical heterogeneous forms in livers from animals infected with ground squirrel hepatitis virus. J Virol. 1983;48(1):1-9.

37. Miller RH, Robinson WS. Common evolutionary origin of hepatitis B virus and retroviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1986;83(8):2531-5.

38. Arbuthnot P, Carmona S, Ely A. Exploiting the RNA interference pathway to counter hepatitis B virus replication. Liver Int. 2005;25(1):9-15.

39. Nassal M. The arginine-rich domain of the hepatitis B virus core protein is required for pregenome encapsidation and productive viral positive-strand DNA synthesis but not for virus assembly. J Virol. 1992;66(7):4107-16.

40. Passman M, Weinberg M, Kew M, Arbuthnot P. In situ demonstration of inhibitory effects of hammerhead ribozymes that are targeted to the hepatitis Bx sequence in cultured cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000;268(3):728-33.

41. Gripon P, Rumin S, Urban S, Le Seyec J, Glaise D, Cannie I, et al. Infection of a human hepatoma cell line by hepatitis B virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(24):15655-60.

42. Crowther C, Ely A, Hornby J, Mufamadi S, Salazar F, Marion P, et al. Efficient inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication in vivo, using polyethylene glycol-modified adenovirus vectors. Hum Gene Ther. 2008;19(11):1325-31.

43. Panjaworayan N, Brown CM. Effects of HBV Genetic Variability on RNAi Strategies. Hepat Res Treat. 2011;2011:367908.

44. Weinberg MS, Ely A, Barichievy S, Crowther C, Mufamadi S, Carmona S, et al. Specific inhibition of HBV replication in vitro and in vivo with expressed long hairpin RNA. Mol Ther. 2007;15(3):534-41.

45. Liu F, Song Y, Liu D. Hydrodynamics-based transfection in animals by systemic administration of plasmid DNA. Gene Ther. 1999;6(7):1258-66.

46. Arbuthnot P, Longshaw V, Naidoo T, Weinberg MS. Opportunities for treating chronic hepatitis B and C virus infection using RNA interference. J Viral Hepat. 2007;14(7):447-59.

47. Ivacik D, Ely A, Arbuthnot P. Countering hepatitis B virus infection using RNAi: how far are we from the clinic? Rev Med Virol. 2011;21(6):383-96.

48. Marion PL, Salazar FH, Littschwager K, Bordier BB, Seegers C, Winters MA. A transgenic mouse lineage useful for testing antivirals targeting hepatitis B virus. Frontiers in Viral Hepatitis. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science; 2003. p. 197-202.

49. Heckel JL, Sandgren EP, Degen JL, Palmiter RD, Brinster RL. Neonatal bleeding in transgenic mice expressing urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Cell. 1990;62(3):447-56.

50. Mercer DF, Schiller DE, Elliott JF, Douglas DN, Hao C, Rinfret A, et al. Hepatitis C virus replication in mice with chimeric human livers. Nat Med. 2001;7(8):927-33.

51. Meuleman P, Libbrecht L, De Vos R, de Hemptinne B, Gevaert K, Vandekerckhove J, et al. Morphological and biochemical characterization of a human liver in a uPA-SCID mouse chimera. Hepatology. 2005;41(4):847-56.

52. Meuleman P, Leroux-Roels G. The human liver-uPA-SCID mouse: a model for the evaluation of antiviral compounds against HBV and HCV. Antiviral Res. 2008;80(3):231-8.

53. Raney AK, Eggers CM, Kline EF, Guidotti LG, Pontoglio M, Yaniv M, et al. Nuclear covalently closed circular viral genomic DNA in the liver of hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 alpha-null hepatitis B virus transgenic mice. J Virol. 2001;75(6):2900-11.

54. Summers J, Smolec JM, Snyder R. A virus similar to human hepatitis B virus associated with hepatitis and hepatoma in woodchucks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1978;75(9):4533-7.
55. Bertoni R, Sette A, Sidney J, Guidotti LG, Shapiro M, Purcell R, et al. Human class
I supertypes and CTL repertoires extend to chimpanzees. J Immunol. 1998;161(8):444755.

56. Weinberg MS, Arbuthnot P. Progress in the use of RNA interference as a therapy for chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Genome Med. 2010;2(4):28.

57. Ely A, Naidoo T, Mufamadi S, Crowther C, Arbuthnot P. Expressed anti-HBV primary microRNA shuttles inhibit viral replication efficiently in vitro and in vivo. Mol Ther. 2008;16(6):1105-12.

58. Sibley CR, Seow Y, Wood MJ. Novel RNA-based strategies for therapeutic gene silencing. Mol Ther. 2010;18(3):466-76.

59. Lee Y, Kim M, Han J, Yeom KH, Lee S, Baek SH, et al. MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. EMBO J. 2004;23(20):4051-60.

60. Shlomai A, Shaul Y. Inhibition of hepatitis B virus expression and replication by RNA interference. Hepatology. 2003;37(4):764-70.

61. McCaffrey AP, Meuse L, Pham TT, Conklin DS, Hannon GJ, Kay MA. RNA interference in adult mice. Nature. 2002;418(6893):38-9.

62. Yang PL, Althage A, Chung J, Chisari FV. Hydrodynamic injection of viral DNA: a mouse model of acute hepatitis B virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(21):13825-30.

63. Giladi H, Ketzinel-Gilad M, Rivkin L, Felig Y, Nussbaum O, Galun E. Small interfering RNA inhibits hepatitis B virus replication in mice. Mol Ther. 2003;8(5):769-76.

64. McCaffrey AP, Nakai H, Pandey K, Huang Z, Salazar FH, Xu H, et al. Inhibition of hepatitis B virus in mice by RNA interference. Nat Biotechnol. 2003;21(6):639-44.

65. Arbuthnot P, Ely A, Weinberg MS. Hepatic delivery of RNA interference activators for therapeutic application. Curr Gene Ther. 2009;9(2):91-103.

66. Stegmeier F, Hu G, Rickles RJ, Hannon GJ, Elledge SJ. A lentiviral microRNAbased system for single-copy polymerase II-regulated RNA interference in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(37):13212-7.

67. Grimm D, Streetz KL, Jopling CL, Storm TA, Pandey K, Davis CR, et al. Fatality in mice due to oversaturation of cellular microRNA/short hairpin RNA pathways. Nature. 2006;441(7092):537-41.

68. Zeng Y, Wagner EJ, Cullen BR. Both natural and designed micro RNAs can inhibit the expression of cognate mRNAs when expressed in human cells. Mol Cell. 2002;9(6):1327-33.

69. Zeng Y, Cullen BR. Structural requirements for pre-microRNA binding and nuclear export by Exportin 5. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004;32(16):4776-85.

70. Snyder LL, Esser JM, Pachuk CJ, Steel LF. Vector design for liver-specific expression of multiple interfering RNAs that target hepatitis B virus transcripts. Antiviral Res. 2008;80(1):36-44.

71. Girard M, Jacquemin E, Munnich A, Lyonnet S, Henrion-Caude A. miR-122, a paradigm for the role of microRNAs in the liver. J Hepatol. 2008;48(4):648-56.

72. Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T. Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. Science. 2001;294(5543):853-8.

73. Lee Y, Jeon K, Lee JT, Kim S, Kim VN. MicroRNA maturation: stepwise processing and subcellular localization. EMBO J. 2002;21(17):4663-70.

74. He L, Thomson JM, Hemann MT, Hernando-Monge E, Mu D, Goodson S, et al. A microRNA polycistron as a potential human oncogene. Nature. 2005;435(7043):828-33.

75. Aagaard LA, Zhang J, von Eije KJ, Li H, Saetrom P, Amarzguioui M, et al. Engineering and optimization of the miR-106b cluster for ectopic expression of multiplexed anti-HIV RNAs. Gene Ther. 2008;15(23):1536-49.

76. Liu YP, Haasnoot J, ter Brake O, Berkhout B, Konstantinova P. Inhibition of HIV1 by multiple siRNAs expressed from a single microRNA polycistron. Nucleic Acids Res.
2008;36(9):2811-24.

77. Chung KH, Hart CC, Al-Bassam S, Avery A, Taylor J, Patel PD, et al. Polycistronic RNA polymerase II expression vectors for RNA interference based on BIC/miR-155. Nucleic Acids Res. 2006;34(7):e53.

78. Ely A, Naidoo T, Arbuthnot P. Efficient silencing of gene expression with modular trimeric Pol II expression cassettes comprising microRNA shuttles. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009;37(13):e91.

79. Zeng Y, Cullen BR. Efficient processing of primary microRNA hairpins by Drosha requires flanking nonstructured RNA sequences. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(30):27595-603.

80. Boudreau RL, Martins I, Davidson BL. Artificial microRNAs as siRNA shuttles: improved safety as compared to shRNAs in vitro and in vivo. Mol Ther. 2009;17(1):169-75.

81. Sledz CA, Holko M, de Veer MJ, Silverman RH, Williams BR. Activation of the interferon system by short-interfering RNAs. Nat Cell Biol. 2003;5(9):834-9.

82. Karpala AJ, Doran TJ, Bean AG. Immune responses to dsRNA: implications for gene silencing technologies. Immunol Cell Biol. 2005;83(3):211-6.

References

83. Sledz CA, Williams BR. RNA interference and double-stranded-RNA-activated pathways. Biochem Soc Trans. 2004;32(Pt 6):952-6.

84. Zhou HS, Liu DP, Liang CC. Challenges and strategies: the immune responses in gene therapy. Med Res Rev. 2004;24(6):748-61.

85. Robbins MA, Li M, Leung I, Li H, Boyer DV, Song Y, et al. Stable expression of shRNAs in human CD34+ progenitor cells can avoid induction of interferon responses to siRNAs in vitro. Nat Biotechnol. 2006;24(5):566-71.

86. Manche L, Green SR, Schmedt C, Mathews MB. Interactions between doublestranded RNA regulators and the protein kinase DAI. Mol Cell Biol. 1992;12(11):5238-48.

87. Marques JT, Devosse T, Wang D, Zamanian-Daryoush M, Serbinowski P, Hartmann R, et al. A structural basis for discriminating between self and nonself double-stranded RNAs in mammalian cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2006;24(5):559-65.

88. Judge AD, Sood V, Shaw JR, Fang D, McClintock K, MacLachlan I. Sequencedependent stimulation of the mammalian innate immune response by synthetic siRNA. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(4):457-62.

89. Jackson AL, Bartz SR, Schelter J, Kobayashi SV, Burchard J, Mao M, et al. Expression profiling reveals off-target gene regulation by RNAi. Nat Biotechnol. 2003;21(6):635-7.

90. Chen PY, Weinmann L, Gaidatzis D, Pei Y, Zavolan M, Tuschl T, et al. Strandspecific 5'-O-methylation of siRNA duplexes controls guide strand selection and targeting specificity. RNA. 2008;14(2):263-74. 91. Jackson AL, Burchard J, Leake D, Reynolds A, Schelter J, Guo J, et al. Positionspecific chemical modification of siRNAs reduces "off-target" transcript silencing. RNA. 2006;12(7):1197-205.

92. Li L, Lin X, Khvorova A, Fesik SW, Shen Y. Defining the optimal parameters for hairpin-based knockdown constructs. RNA. 2007;13(10):1765-74.

93. Keck K, Volper EM, Spengler RM, Long DD, Chan CY, Ding Y, et al. Rational design leads to more potent RNA interference against hepatitis B virus: factors effecting silencing efficiency. Mol Ther. 2009;17(3):538-47.

94. Schopman NC, Liu YP, Konstantinova P, ter Brake O, Berkhout B. Optimization of shRNA inhibitors by variation of the terminal loop sequence. Antiviral Res. 2010;86(2):204-11.

95. Vile RG, Hart IR. In vitro and in vivo targeting of gene expression to melanoma cells. Cancer Res. 1993;53(5):962-7.

96. Vile RG, Hart IR. Use of tissue-specific expression of the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene to inhibit growth of established murine melanomas following direct intratumoral injection of DNA. Cancer Res. 1993;53(17):3860-4.

97. Vile RG, Nelson JA, Castleden S, Chong H, Hart IR. Systemic gene therapy of murine melanoma using tissue specific expression of the HSVtk gene involves an immune component. Cancer Res. 1994;54(23):6228-34.

98. Wilson R, Purcell D, Netter HJ, Revill PA. Does RNA interference provide new hope for control of chronic hepatitis B infection? Antivir Ther. 2009;14(7):879-89.

99. Morrissey DV, Blanchard K, Shaw L, Jensen K, Lockridge JA, Dickinson B, et al. Activity of stabilized short interfering RNA in a mouse model of hepatitis B virus replication. Hepatology. 2005;41(6):1349-56.

100. Hean J, Crowther C, Ely A, Ul Islam R, Barichievy S, Bloom K, et al. Inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication in vivo using lipoplexes containing altritol-modified antiviral siRNAs. Artif DNA PNA XNA. 2010;1(1):17-26.

101. Morrissey DV, Lockridge JA, Shaw L, Blanchard K, Jensen K, Breen W, et al. Potent and persistent in vivo anti-HBV activity of chemically modified siRNAs. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(8):1002-7.

102. Carmona S, Jorgensen MR, Kolli S, Crowther C, Salazar FH, Marion PL, et al. Controlling HBV replication in vivo by intravenous administration of triggered PEGylated siRNA-nanoparticles. Mol Pharm. 2009;6(3):706-17.

103. Kim SI, Shin D, Choi TH, Lee JC, Cheon GJ, Kim KY, et al. Systemic and specific delivery of small interfering RNAs to the liver mediated by apolipoprotein A-I. Mol Ther. 2007;15(6):1145-52.

104. Carmona S, Ely A, Crowther C, Moolla N, Salazar FH, Marion PL, et al. Effective inhibition of HBV replication in vivo by anti-HBx short hairpin RNAs. Mol Ther. 2006;13(2):411-21.

105. Uprichard SL, Boyd B, Althage A, Chisari FV. Clearance of hepatitis B virus from the liver of transgenic mice by short hairpin RNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(3):773-8.

106. Chen Y, Cheng G, Mahato RI. RNAi for treating hepatitis B viral infection. Pharm Res. 2008;25(1):72-86.

107. Yang Y, Nunes FA, Berencsi K, Furth EE, Gonczol E, Wilson JM. Cellular immunity to viral antigens limits E1-deleted adenoviruses for gene therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(10):4407-11.

108. Schnell MA, Zhang Y, Tazelaar J, Gao GP, Yu QC, Qian R, et al. Activation of innate immunity in nonhuman primates following intraportal administration of adenoviral vectors. Mol Ther. 2001;3(5 Pt 1):708-22.

109. Rauschhuber C, Xu H, Salazar FH, Marion PL, Ehrhardt A. Exploring gene-deleted adenoviral vectors for delivery of short hairpin RNAs and reduction of hepatitis B virus infection in mice. J Gene Med. 2008;10(8):878-89.

110. Mohube BM, Crowther C, Ely A, Arbuthnot P. Efficient Silencing of Hepatitis B Virus by Helper-dependent Adenovirus Vector-mediated Delivery of Artificial Antiviral Primary Micro RNAs. MicroRNA. 2012;1:19-25.

111. Toietta G, Mane VP, Norona WS, Finegold MJ, Ng P, McDonagh AF, et al. Lifelong elimination of hyperbilirubinemia in the Gunn rat with a single injection of helper-dependent adenoviral vector. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(11):3930-5.

112. Chen CC, Ko TM, Ma HI, Wu HL, Xiao X, Li J, et al. Long-term inhibition of hepatitis B virus in transgenic mice by double-stranded adeno-associated virus 8-delivered short hairpin RNA. Gene Ther. 2007;14(1):11-9.

113. Buchschacher GL, Jr., Wong-Staal F. Development of lentiviral vectors for gene therapy for human diseases. Blood. 2000;95(8):2499-504.

114. Makinen PI, Koponen JK, Karkkainen AM, Malm TM, Pulkkinen KH, Koistinaho J, et al. Stable RNA interference: comparison of U6 and H1 promoters in endothelial cells and in mouse brain. J Gene Med. 2006;8(4):433-41.

115. Gitlin L, Karelsky S, Andino R. Short interfering RNA confers intracellular antiviral immunity in human cells. Nature. 2002;418(6896):430-4.

116. Barichievy S, Saayman S, Arbuthnot P, Weinberg MS. RNA interference-based gene expression strategies aimed at sustained therapeutic inhibition of HIV. Curr Top Med Chem. 2009;9(12):1065-78.

117. Wilson JA, Richardson CD. Hepatitis C virus replicons escape RNA interference induced by a short interfering RNA directed against the NS5b coding region. J Virol. 2005;79(11):7050-8.

118. Wu HL, Huang LR, Huang CC, Lai HL, Liu CJ, Huang YT, et al. RNA interference-mediated control of hepatitis B virus and emergence of resistant mutant. Gastroenterology. 2005;128(3):708-16.

119. Chen Y, Du D, Wu J, Chan CP, Tan Y, Kung HF, et al. Inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication by stably expressed shRNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003;311(2):398-404.

120. Giering JC, Grimm D, Storm TA, Kay MA. Expression of shRNA from a tissuespecific pol II promoter is an effective and safe RNAi therapeutic. Mol Ther. 2008;16(9):1630-6.

121. Roeder RG, Rutter WJ. Multiple forms of DNA-dependent RNA polymerase in eukaryotic organisms. Nature. 1969;224(5216):234-7.

122. White RJ, Jackson SP. The TATA-binding protein: a central role in transcription by RNA polymerases I, II and III. Trends Genet. 1992;8(8):284-8.

123. Schramm L, Hernandez N. Recruitment of RNA polymerase III to its target promoters. Genes Dev. 2002;16(20):2593-620.

124. Dieci G, Fiorino G, Castelnuovo M, Teichmann M, Pagano A. The expanding RNA polymerase III transcriptome. Trends Genet. 2007;23(12):614-22.

125. Hernandez N. TBP, a universal eukaryotic transcription factor? Genes Dev. 1993;7(7B):1291-308.

126. Huang Y, Maraia RJ. Comparison of the RNA polymerase III transcription machinery in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, Saccharomyces cerevisiae and human. Nucleic Acids Res. 2001;29(13):2675-90.

127. Myslinski E, Ame JC, Krol A, Carbon P. An unusually compact external promoter for RNA polymerase III transcription of the human H1RNA gene. Nucleic Acids Res. 2001;29(12):2502-9.

128. Paule MR, White RJ. Survey and summary: transcription by RNA polymerases I and III. Nucleic Acids Res. 2000;28(6):1283-98.

129. Pebernard S, Iggo RD. Determinants of interferon-stimulated gene induction by RNAi vectors. Differentiation. 2004;72(2-3):103-11.

130. Boden D, Pusch O, Lee F, Tucker L, Shank PR, Ramratnam B. Promoter choice affects the potency of HIV-1 specific RNA interference. Nucleic Acids Res. 2003;31(17):5033-8.

131. Dyer V, Ely A, Bloom K, Weinberg M, Arbuthnot P. tRNA Lys3 promoter cassettes that efficiently express RNAi-activating antihepatitis B virus short hairpin RNAs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;398(4):640-6.

132. Borchert GM, Lanier W, Davidson BL. RNA polymerase III transcribes human microRNAs. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2006;13(12):1097-101.

133. Dittmar KA, Goodenbour JM, Pan T. Tissue-specific differences in human transferRNA expression. PLoS Genet. 2006;2(12):e221.

134. Dahlberg JE, Lund E. In: Birnstiel ML, editor. Structure and Function of Major and Minor Small Nuclear Ribonucleoprotein Particles. Berlin: Springer; 1988. p. 38-70.

135. Al-Dosari M, Zhang G, Knapp JE, Liu D. Evaluation of viral and mammalian promoters for driving transgene expression in mouse liver. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2006;339(2):673-8.

136. Aurisicchio L, Delmastro P, Salucci V, Paz OG, Rovere P, Ciliberto G, et al. Liverspecific alpha 2 interferon gene expression results in protection from induced hepatitis. J Virol. 2000;74(10):4816-23.

137. Hardon EM, Frain M, Paonessa G, Cortese R. Two distinct factors interact with the promoter regions of several liver-specific genes. EMBO J. 1988;7(6):1711-9.

138. Tronche F, Ringeisen F, Blumenfeld M, Yaniv M, Pontoglio M. Analysis of the distribution of binding sites for a tissue-specific transcription factor in the vertebrate genome. J Mol Biol. 1997;266(2):231-45.

139. Hochheimer A, Tjian R. Diversified transcription initiation complexes expand promoter selectivity and tissue-specific gene expression. Genes Dev. 2003;17(11):1309-20.

140. Toscano MG, Romero Z, Munoz P, Cobo M, Benabdellah K, Martin F. Physiological and tissue-specific vectors for treatment of inherited diseases. Gene Ther. 2011;18(2):117-27.

141. Pleshkan VV, Alekseenko IV, Zinovyeva MV, Vinogradova TV, Sverdlov ED. Promoters with cancer cell-specific activity for melanoma gene therapy. Acta Naturae. 2011;3(2):13-21.

142. Courtois G, Baumhueter S, Crabtree GR. Purified hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 interacts with a family of hepatocyte-specific promoters. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988;85(21):7937-41.

143. Yamada T, Ueda M, Seno M, Kondo A, Tanizawa K, Kuroda S. Novel tissue and cell type-specific gene/drug delivery system using surface engineered hepatitis B virus nano-particles. Curr Drug Targets Infect Disord. 2004;4(2):163-7.

144. Gorski K, Carneiro M, Schibler U. Tissue-specific in vitro transcription from the mouse albumin promoter. Cell. 1986;47(5):767-76.

145. Kramer MG, Barajas M, Razquin N, Berraondo P, Rodrigo M, Wu C, et al. In vitro and in vivo comparative study of chimeric liver-specific promoters. Mol Ther. 2003;7(3):375-85.

146. Poli V, Silengo L, Altruda F, Cortese R. The analysis of the human hemopexin promoter defines a new class of liver-specific genes. Nucleic Acids Res. 1989;17(22):9351-65.

147. Dickson PW, Howlett GJ, Schreiber G. Metabolism of prealbumin in rats and changes induced by acute inflammation. Eur J Biochem. 1982;129(2):289-93.

148. Kuriyama S, Yoshikawa M, Ishizaka S, Tsujii T, Ikenaka K, Kagawa T, et al. A potential approach for gene therapy targeting hepatoma using a liver-specific promoter on a retroviral vector. Cell Struct Funct. 1991;16(6):503-10.

149. Clackson T. Controlling mammalian gene expression with small molecules. Curr Opin Chem Biol. 1997;1(2):210-8.

150. Rossi FM, Blau HM. Recent advances in inducible gene expression systems. CurrOpin Biotechnol. 1998;9(5):451-6.

151. Harvey DM, Caskey CT. Inducible control of gene expression: prospects for gene therapy. Curr Opin Chem Biol. 1998;2(4):512-8.

152. Clackson T. Regulated gene expression systems. Gene Ther. 2000;7(2):120-5.

153. Weber W, Fussenegger M. Approaches for trigger-inducible viral transgene regulation in gene-based tissue engineering. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2004;15(5):383-91.

154. Dumortier J, Schonig K, Oberwinkler H, Low R, Giese T, Bujard H, et al. Liverspecific expression of interferon gamma following adenoviral gene transfer controls hepatitis B virus replication in mice. Gene Ther. 2005;12(8):668-77.

155. Gossen M, Bujard H. Tight control of gene expression in mammalian cells by tetracycline-responsive promoters. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(12):5547-51.

156. Demers P, Fraser D, Goldbloom RB, Haworth JC, LaRochelle J, MacLean R, et al. Effects of tetracyclines on skeletal growth and dentition. A report by the Nutrition Committee of the Canadian Paediatric Society. Can Med Assoc J. 1968;99(17):849-54.

157. Saez E, No D, West A, Evans RM. Inducible gene expression in mammalian cells and transgenic mice. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 1997;8(5):608-16.

158. Xie J, Nair A, Hermiston TW. A comparative study examining the cytotoxicity of inducible gene expression system ligands in different cell types. Toxicol In Vitro. 2008;22(1):261-6.

159. Goverdhana S, Puntel M, Xiong W, Zirger JM, Barcia C, Curtin JF, et al. Regulatable gene expression systems for gene therapy applications: progress and future challenges. Mol Ther. 2005;12(2):189-211.

160. No D, Yao TP, Evans RM. Ecdysone-inducible gene expression in mammalian cells and transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(8):3346-51.

161. Christopherson KS, Mark MR, Bajaj V, Godowski PJ. Ecdysteroid-dependent regulation of genes in mammalian cells by a Drosophila ecdysone receptor and chimeric transactivators. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(14):6314-8.

162. Yao TP, Forman BM, Jiang Z, Cherbas L, Chen JD, McKeown M, et al. Functional ecdysone receptor is the product of EcR and Ultraspiracle genes. Nature. 1993;366(6454):476-9.

163. Rivera VM, Clackson T, Natesan S, Pollock R, Amara JF, Keenan T, et al. A humanized system for pharmacologic control of gene expression. Nat Med. 1996;2(9):1028-32.

164. Liberles SD, Diver ST, Austin DJ, Schreiber SL. Inducible gene expression and protein translocation using nontoxic ligands identified by a mammalian three-hybrid screen. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(15):7825-30.

165. Jang GR, Benet LZ. Antiprogestin pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics, and metabolism: implications for their long-term use. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm. 1997;25(6):647-72.

166. Termination of pregnancy with reduced doses of mifepristone. World Health Organisation Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods of Fertility Regulation. BMJ. 1993;307(6903):532-7.

167. Kekkonen R, Heikinheimo O, Mandelin E, Lahteenmaki P. Pharmacokinetics of mifepristone after low oral doses. Contraception. 1996;54(4):229-34.

168. Grunberg SM, Weiss MH, Spitz IM, Ahmadi J, Sadun A, Russell CA, et al. Treatment of unresectable meningiomas with the antiprogesterone agent mifepristone. J Neurosurg. 1991;74(6):861-6. 169. van der Lely AJ, Foeken K, van der Mast RC, Lamberts SW. Rapid reversal of acute psychosis in the Cushing syndrome with the cortisol-receptor antagonist mifepristone (RU 486). Ann Intern Med. 1991;114(2):143-4.

170. Handerson D. In: Furr FJA, Wakeling AE, editors. Pharmacology and Clinical Uses of Inhibitors of Hormone Secretion and Action. London: Bailliere Tindall; 1987. p. 184-210.

171. Spitz IM, Bardin CW. Mifepristone (RU 486)--a modulator of progestin and glucocorticoid action. N Engl J Med. 1993;329(6):404-12.

172. Vegeto E, Allan GF, Schrader WT, Tsai MJ, McDonnell DP, O'Malley BW. The mechanism of RU486 antagonism is dependent on the conformation of the carboxy-terminal tail of the human progesterone receptor. Cell. 1992;69(4):703-13.

173. Tsai SY, O'Malley BW, DeMayo FJ, Wang Y, Chua SS. A novel RU486 inducible system for the activation and repression of genes. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 1998;30(1-3):23-31.

174. Wang Y, O'Malley BW, Jr., Tsai SY, O'Malley BW. A regulatory system for use in gene transfer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(17):8180-4.

175. Keegan L, Gill G, Ptashne M. Separation of DNA binding from the transcriptionactivating function of a eukaryotic regulatory protein. Science. 1986;231(4739):699-704.

176. Carey M, Kakidani H, Leatherwood J, Mostashari F, Ptashne M. An aminoterminal fragment of GAL4 binds DNA as a dimer. J Mol Biol. 1989;209(3):423-32.

177. Nelson M, Silver P. Context affects nuclear protein localization in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 1989;9(2):384-9.

178. Wang Y, Xu J, Pierson T, O'Malley BW, Tsai SY. Positive and negative regulation of gene expression in eukaryotic cells with an inducible transcriptional regulator. Gene Ther. 1997;4(5):432-41.

179. Schmitz ML, Baeuerle PA. The p65 subunit is responsible for the strong transcription activating potential of NF-kappa B. EMBO J. 1991;10(12):3805-17.

180. Burcin MM, Schiedner G, Kochanek S, Tsai SY, O'Malley BW. Adenovirusmediated regulable target gene expression in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(2):355-60.

181. Reboredo M, Kramer MG, Smerdou C, Prieto J, De Las Rivas J. Transcriptomic effects of Tet-on and mifepristone-inducible systems in mouse liver. Hum Gene Ther. 2008;19(11):1233-47.

182. Wang Y, DeMayo FJ, Tsai SY, O'Malley BW. Ligand-inducible and liver-specific target gene expression in transgenic mice. Nat Biotechnol. 1997;15(3):239-43.

183. Abruzzese RV, Godin D, Mehta V, Perrard JL, French M, Nelson W, et al. Liganddependent regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor and erythropoietin expression by a plasmid-based autoinducible GeneSwitch system. Mol Ther. 2000;2(3):276-87.

184. Emelyanov A, Parinov S. Mifepristone-inducible LexPR system to drive and control gene expression in transgenic zebrafish. Dev Biol. 2008;320(1):113-21.

185. Cai Q, Lu Z, Hong G, Jiang X, Wu Z, Zheng J, et al. Recombinant adenovirus Ad-RUNrf2 reduces paraquat-induced A549 injury. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2012;31(11):1102-12.

186. Sirin O, Park F. Regulating gene expression using self-inactivating lentiviral vectors containing the mifepristone-inducible system. Gene. 2003;323:67-77.

187. Oligino T, Poliani PL, Wang Y, Tsai SY, O'Malley BW, Fink DJ, et al. Drug inducible transgene expression in brain using a herpes simplex virus vector. Gene Ther. 1998;5(4):491-6.

188. Abruzzese RV, Godin D, Burcin M, Mehta V, French M, Li Y, et al. Liganddependent regulation of plasmid-based transgene expression in vivo. Hum Gene Ther. 1999;10(9):1499-507.

189. Wang L, Hernandez-Alcoceba R, Shankar V, Zabala M, Kochanek S, Sangro B, et al. Prolonged and inducible transgene expression in the liver using gutless adenovirus: a potential therapy for liver cancer. Gastroenterology. 2004;126(1):278-89.

190. Crettaz J, Otano I, Ochoa-Callejero L, Benito A, Paneda A, Aurrekoetxea I, et al. Treatment of chronic viral hepatitis in woodchucks by prolonged intrahepatic expression of interleukin-12. J Virol. 2009;83(6):2663-74.

191. Chou CH, Aristidou AA, Meng SY, Bennett GN, San KY. Characterization of a pH-inducible promoter system for high-level expression of recombinant proteins in Escherichia coli. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1995;47(2):186-92.

192. Yang W, Paschen W. Conditional gene silencing in mammalian cells mediated by a stress-inducible promoter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;365(3):521-7.

193. Hurley JM, Chen CH, Loros JJ, Dunlap JC. Light-inducible system for tunable protein expression in Neurospora crassa. G3 (Bethesda). 2012;2(10):1207-12.

194. Vilaboa N, Voellmy R. Regulatable gene expression systems for gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther. 2006;6(4):421-38. 195. Han J, McLane B, Kim EH, Yoon JW, Jun HS. Remission of diabetes by insulin gene therapy using a hepatocyte-specific and glucose-responsive synthetic promoter. Mol Ther. 2011;19(3):470-8.

196. Su H, Joho S, Huang Y, Barcena A, Arakawa-Hoyt J, Grossman W, et al. Adenoassociated viral vector delivers cardiac-specific and hypoxia-inducible VEGF expression in ischemic mouse hearts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(46):16280-5.

197. Martin-Saavedra FM, Wilson CG, Voellmy R, Vilaboa-Diaz N, Franceschi RT. Spatiotemporal control of vascular endothelial growth factor expression using a heat shock and rapamycin-dependent gene switch. Hum Gene Ther Methods. 2013.

198. Weber W, Fussenegger M. Pharmacologic transgene control systems for gene therapy. J Gene Med. 2006;8(5):535-56.

199. Sauer B, Henderson N. Site-specific DNA recombination in mammalian cells by the Cre recombinase of bacteriophage P1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988;85(14):5166-70.

200. Ventura A, Meissner A, Dillon CP, McManus M, Sharp PA, Van Parijs L, et al. Cre-lox-regulated conditional RNA interference from transgenes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(28):10380-5.

201. Kellendonk C, Tronche F, Monaghan AP, Angrand PO, Stewart F, Schutz G. Regulation of Cre recombinase activity by the synthetic steroid RU 486. Nucleic Acids Res. 1996;24(8):1404-11.

202. Vijayshankar SG. Inhibition of tumor growth by adenovirus-mediated expression of antiangiogenic and immunomodulatory proteins. Cologne: University of Cologne; 2006.

203. Ngan ES, Schillinger K, DeMayo F, Tsai SY. The mifepristone-inducible gene regulatory system in mouse models of disease and gene therapy. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2002;13(2):143-9.

204. Ulmann A, Teutsch G, Philibert D. Ru 486. Sci Am. 1990;262(6):42-8.

205. Kawai S, Nieman LK, Brandon DD, Udelsman R, Loriaux DL, Chrousos GP. Pharmacokinetic properties of the antiglucocorticoid and antiprogesterone steroid RU 486 in man. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1987;241(2):401-6.

206. He CH, Shi YE, Ye ZH, Zhang GG, Jiang NX, Van Look PF, et al. Pharmacokinetic study of orally administered RU 486 in non-pregnant women. Contraception. 1989;40(4):449-60.

207. Heikinheimo O, Kekkonen R. Dose-response relationships of RU 486. Ann Med. 1993;25(1):71-6.

208. Teschendorf C, Warrington KH, Jr., Siemann DW, Muzyczka N. Comparison of the EF-1 alpha and the CMV promoter for engineering stable tumor cell lines using recombinant adeno-associated virus. Anticancer Res. 2002;22(6A):3325-30.

209. Brooks AR, Harkins RN, Wang P, Qian HS, Liu P, Rubanyi GM. Transcriptional silencing is associated with extensive methylation of the CMV promoter following adenoviral gene delivery to muscle. J Gene Med. 2004;6(4):395-404.

210. Meilinger D, Fellinger K, Bultmann S, Rothbauer U, Bonapace IM, Klinkert WE, et al. Np95 interacts with de novo DNA methyltransferases, Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b, and mediates epigenetic silencing of the viral CMV promoter in embryonic stem cells. EMBO Rep. 2009;10(11):1259-64.

211. Loser P, Jennings GS, Strauss M, Sandig V. Reactivation of the previously silenced cytomegalovirus major immediate-early promoter in the mouse liver: involvement of NFkappaB. J Virol. 1998;72(1):180-90.

212. Czauderna F, Santel A, Hinz M, Fechtner M, Durieux B, Fisch G, et al. Inducible shRNA expression for application in a prostate cancer mouse model. Nucleic Acids Res. 2003;31(21):e127.

213. Matsukura S, Jones PA, Takai D. Establishment of conditional vectors for hairpin siRNA knockdowns. Nucleic Acids Res. 2003;31(15):e77.

214. Lin X, Yang J, Chen J, Gunasekera A, Fesik SW, Shen Y. Development of a tightly regulated U6 promoter for shRNA expression. FEBS Lett. 2004;577(3):376-80.

215. Van de Wetering M, Oving I, Muncan V, Fong MTP, Brantjes H, van Leenen D, et al. Specific inhibition of gene expression using a stably integrated, inducible small-interfering-RNA vector. EMBO reports. 2003;4(6):609-15.

216. Matthess Y, Kappel S, Spankuch B, Zimmer B, Kaufmann M, Strebhardt K. Conditional inhibition of cancer cell proliferation by tetracycline-responsive, H1 promoterdriven silencing of PLK1. Oncogene. 2005;24(18):2973-80.

217. Yu J, McMahon AP. Reproducible and inducible knockdown of gene expression in mice. Genesis. 2006;44(5):252-61.

218. Gupta S, Schoer RA, Egan JE, Hannon GJ, Mittal V. Inducible, reversible, and stable RNA interference in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(7):1927-32.

219. Higuchi M, Tsutsumi R, Higashi H, Hatakeyama M. Conditional gene silencing utilizing the lac repressor reveals a role of SHP-2 in cagA-positive Helicobacter pylori pathogenicity. Cancer Sci. 2004;95(5):442-7.

220. Epanchintsev A, Jung P, Menssen A, Hermeking H. Inducible microRNA expression by an all-in-one episomal vector system. Nucleic Acids Res. 2006;34(18):e119.

221. Weidenfeld I. Inducible microRNA-mediated knockdown of the endogenous human lamin A/C gene. Methods Mol Biol. 2012;815:289-305.

222. Dickins RA, Hemann MT, Zilfou JT, Simpson DR, Ibarra I, Hannon GJ, et al. Probing tumor phenotypes using stable and regulated synthetic microRNA precursors. Nat Genet. 2005;37(11):1289-95.

223. Loew R, Heinz N, Hampf M, Bujard H, Gossen M. Improved Tet-responsive promoters with minimized background expression. BMC Biotechnol. 2010;10:81.

224. Xu ZL, Mizuguchi H, Mayumi T, Hayakawa T. Regulated gene expression from adenovirus vectors: a systematic comparison of various inducible systems. Gene. 2003;309(2):145-51.

225. Cheung VG, Spielman RS. The genetics of variation in gene expression. Nat Genet.2002;32 Suppl:522-5.

226. New MI, Abraham M, Gonzalez B, Dumic M, Razzaghy-Azar M, Chitayat D, et al. Genotype-phenotype correlation in 1,507 families with congenital adrenal hyperplasia owing to 21-hydroxylase deficiency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(7):2611-6.

227. Miklos GL, Maleszka R. Microarray reality checks in the context of a complex disease. Nat Biotechnol. 2004;22(5):615-21.

228. Schmittgen TD, Lee EJ, Jiang J, Sarkar A, Yang L, Elton TS, et al. Real-time PCR quantification of precursor and mature microRNA. Methods. 2008;44(1):31-8.

229. Chen C, Ridzon DA, Broomer AJ, Zhou Z, Lee DH, Nguyen JT, et al. Real-time quantification of microRNAs by stem-loop RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 2005;33(20):e179.

230. Varallyay E, Burgyan J, Havelda Z. MicroRNA detection by northern blotting using locked nucleic acid probes. Nat Protoc. 2008;3(2):190-6.